
 
 

DELEGATED DECISIONS 
MADE DURING COVID-19 

LOCKDOWN MEETING 
 

WEDNESDAY, 25TH MARCH, 2020 
 

1. Annual Equality Report for 2018-2019  3 - 36 

2. Strategic Equality Plan 2020-2024  37 - 66 

3. Active Travel Fund and Safe Routes in 
Communities Fund  

67 - 70 

4. Formal Approval of a New Foundation Economy 
Challenge Fund Community Meanwhile Project  

71 - 74 

5. Local Transport Fund: Ultra Low Emission 
Vehicles & Resilient Roads Funds  

75 - 80 

6. Regional Transport Authority Metro Plus 
Programme  

81 - 88 

7. New Merthyr Tydfil Bus Station  89 - 92 

8. Regional Transport Authority Metro Plus 
Programme  

93 - 100 

9. Welsh Government Free Swimming Initiative in the 
County Borough  

101 - 104 

Exempt Items 

10. Land at Twynyrodyn   

 Approved by the Chief Executive 
 

105 - 110 

11. Glynmill Caravan Site  111 - 116 



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Annual Equality Report for 2018-2019 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The Council’s Strategic Equality Plan and Equality Objectives for 2016-2020 were 

approved by Full Council on 23rd March 2016. 
 
1.2 In addition to preparing a Strategic Equality Plan the Equality Act 2010 and Public 

Sector Equality Duty also requires the Council to prepare and publish an annual 
report every year noting progress across all aspects of its equalities work, including 
progress on delivering its Equality Objectives. 

 

1.3 Through the Strategic Equality Plan and it’s Equality Objectives the Annual Equality 
Report for 2018-2019, attached as Appendix 1, is testament to the Council’s ongoing 
drive to progress its equality agenda and deliver our Equalities Vision for Merthyr 
Tydfil, which is “a place where diversity is valued and respected and everyone can 
participate, flourish and have the opportunity to fulfil their potential free from 
discrimination and prejudice”. 

 

1.4 The Council’s Vision and Equality Objectives support the Council’s Well-being 
Objectives and the seven national Well-being Goals and link to the five ways of 
working (the Sustainable Development Principle) that are set out in the Well-being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

 

1.5 Based on the progress reported in the Annual Equality Report, outcomes have been 
assessed as Good - many strengths and no important areas requiring significant 
improvement. 

 

Date Written 3rd March 2020* 

Report Author Amii Cooper 

Service Area Corporate Services 

Committee Division Strategic 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 25th March 2020 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 The Council’s Annual Equality Report for 2018-2019 be approved. 

 
2.2 Presentation of the Council’s Annual Equality Report for 2018-2019 to Council for 

information be approved. 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

Equality Act 2010 
 

3.1 The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) brings together and replaces the previous 
antidiscrimination laws with a single Act. It simplifies and strengthens the law, 
removes inconsistencies and makes it easier for people to understand and comply 
with it. The majority of the Act came into force on 1st October 2010. 

 
3.2 The Act includes a new public sector equality duty (the ‘general duty’), replacing the 

separate duties on race, disability and gender equality. This came into force on 5th 
April 2011. 
 

3.3 The general duty under the Act covers the following protected characteristics: 
 

 Age 

 Disability  

 Gender Reassignment 

 Marriage and Civil Partnerships 

 Pregnancy and Maternity 

 Race – including ethnic or national origin, colour or nationality 

 Religion or belief – including lack of belief 

 Sex (Gender) 

 Sexual orientation 
 

3.4 It applies to marriage and civil partnership, but only in respect of the requirement to 
have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination. 

 
3.5 The aim of the general duty is to ensure that public authorities and those carrying out 
 a public function consider how they can positively contribute to a fairer society 
 through advancing equality and good relations in their day-to-day activities. The duty 
 ensures that equality considerations are built into the design of policies and the 
 delivery of services and that they are kept under review. This will achieve better 
 outcomes for all. 

 

3.6 Public bodies are required to have due regard to the need to: 
 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and 
other conduct that is prohibited by the Act. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and those who do not. 

Page 4



 Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 
Specific duties in Wales 

 
3.7 The broad purpose of the specific duties in Wales is to help listed bodies in their 

performance of the general duty and to aid transparency. 
 

3.8 The specific duties in Wales are set out in the Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) 
 (Wales) Regulations 2011. The specific duties in Wales came into force on 6th 
April 2011. 
 

3.9 The specific duties in Wales included a requirement for listed bodies to develop and 
publish a Strategic Equality Plan by 2nd April 2012 that contained Equality 
Objectives. 
 

3.10 The Council’s Strategic Equality Plan and Equality Objectives for 2012-2016 were 
 approved by Full Council on 29th February 2012. 

 

Strategic Equality Plan for 2016-2020 
 
3.11 The Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty requires the Council to review 
 its Strategic Equality Plan and Objectives at least every four years.  

 
3.12 As part of the review of the Council’s Strategic Equality Plan it was identified that an 

Equalities Vision for Merthyr Tydfil was essential in order to set out the Council’s 
Ambition to eliminate discrimination / harassment, advance equality and foster good 
relations. The following Equalities Vision for Merthyr Tydfil has been developed: 
 

 A place where diversity is valued and respected and everyone can 
participate, flourish and have the opportunity to fulfil their potential free 
from discrimination and prejudice. 

 
3.13 This Vision has been supported by the following four Equality Objectives (listed in 

the table below) that are set out in the Council’s Strategic Equality Plan for 2016-
2020. The Strategic Equality Plan for 2016-2020 was approved by Full Council on 
23rd March 2016. 

 
 

Themes Equality Objectives 

 
Community 
Engagement 

Equality Objective 1 
Put Citizens’ voices at the heart of local decision making so that 
their contribution is understood, recognised and used to help 
the Council understand and respond to the needs of its 
communities. 

 
Equality 
Awareness 
Raising 

Equality Objective 2 
To support and facilitate Equalities training and learning 
opportunities so that staff at all levels, Councillors and partners 
recognise and incorporate Equalities as part of their role. 

 Equality Objective 3 

Page 5



Understanding 
our Staff and 
Communities 

Develop robust monitoring systems to collect, collate, monitor 
and publish equalities data on our employees and customers, 
which will help the Council to ensure that it provides fair and 
accessible services. 

 
Gender/Equal 
Pay 

Equality Objective 4  
Ensure equity of pay across Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council.  
 

 
Annual Reporting 
 

3.14 The Council is required to prepare and publish an annual report noting progress 
across all aspects of its equalities work, including progress on delivering its Equality 
Objectives. 

 

4.0 ANNUAL EQUALITY REPORT FOR 2018-2019 
 
4.1 The Council’s Annual Equality Report for 2018-2019 is attached as Appendix 1. 

Some of the key points to note from the report include the following: 
 

Equalities & Diversity Champion and Armed Forces Champion 
 

 Councillor Kevin O’Neill (Leader of the Council) is the Council’s Equalities and 
Diversity Champion; and 

 Councillor Andrew Barry (Portfolio Member for Governance and Corporate 
Services) is the Council’s Armed Forces Champion. 

 
LGBT History Month 
 

 This was the fifth year that the Rainbow and Transgender flags were raised 
outside the Civic Centre to celebrate Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender 
(LGBT) History month as part of the Council’s commitment to supporting and 
engaging with the LGBT+ community within Merthyr Tydfil.  

 
Pride Cymru 2018 
 

 The Council was proud to be part of Pride Cymru in August 2018 for the third 
consecutive year, working will other Councils from South Wales to engage 
with the LGBT+ community. The aim was to engage with the LGBT+ 
community to establish key issues and, as a result, improve the experiences 
of local LGBT+ people across South Wales when accessing public services. 

 
Insport 
 

 Development of the MTCBC insport Gold submission has continued 
throughout 2018-19. To date we are the only Local Authority to have attended 
the Disability Sport Wales insport Golf Pre-Panel, outlining their priority areas 
as part of the submission. 
 
 

Page 6



 The Disability Sport Merthyr forum has continued to develop over 2018-19 
and we have continued to pilot the insport education programme with 3 local 
schools. We are currently the only Local Authority in Wales to be running the 
programme. 

 
Armed Forces Covenant 
 

 A Veteran Advice Officer (VAO) has been in post since January 2019 
supporting both MTCBC and RCTCBC. The VAO actively attends Veteran 
groups within the CWM Taf area. 

 

 Good relationships have been developed with key organisations such as 
SSAFA (the Armed forces Charity), The Royal British Legion and Change 
Step who offer support for veterans, their families and carers in Wales – to 
access vital support services and to tackle serious stress and related issues. 

 

 We continue to offer free swimming for armed forces personnel and veterans 
at our two Leisure Centres. Also a bi-monthly coffee morning continues to be 
held at Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Centre. 

 
Welsh Language  
 

 In 2018 MTCBC launched a new initiative called the #Shwmaeronment 
Campaign which is about encouraging the use of the Welsh language in the 
workplace and wider community. As part of the initiative we encouraged 
school pupils in the County Borough to get involved and design a logo. The 
winning entry was developed into an official logo which was used in posters 
and other literature that was displayed across Merthyr Tydfil. 

 

 We have developed and delivered several internal training courses for staff. A 
Welsh language customer telephone and greeting training course refresher 
training was provided to over 40 front line staff. Also we continue to provide 
work place training opportunities for staff and Councillors. Nine members of 
staff have successfully achieved the WJEC Entry Certificate in Welsh Second 
Language. The Council currently has 25 members of staff learning Welsh in 
the workplace. 

 

 The Council’s Welsh language service and Active Merthyr Tydfil continue to 
work in partnership to support an Urdd Sports Development Apprentice 
Project. The purpose of the project is for the Welsh language to continue to 
become more prevalent in the community by providing sporting opportunities 
for young people through the medium of Welsh. In 2018/19, some key 
development include five after school clubs were run, five community clubs 
were run and a summer tennis club. 

 
 
 

 

Page 7



5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
5.1 There are no specific financial implications identified in this report. Any financial 

implications arising from the report will be reported to Cabinet/Council as 
appropriate, including potential options for funding. 

 
 

6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
10 of 10 0 of 10 0 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary: 
 
The Council’s Annual Equality Report for 2018-2019 notes progress across all aspects 
of the Council’s equalities work, including progress on delivering its Equality Objectives 
for 2016-2020.  
 
The Council’s Equality Vision and Equality Objectives support the Council’s Well-being 
Objectives and the seven Well-being Goals. 
 
The Council’s Annual Equality Report for 2018-2019 positively impacts on the Council’s 
Wellbeing Objectives, the five ways of working and the protected characteristics 
(including Welsh language). 
 
No negative impacts have been identified. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 8



ELLIS COOPER 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY 
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

& CORPORATE SERVICES 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

NO 

 
 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY 

BOROUGH COUNCIL 

  

ANNUAL 

EQUALITY 

REPORT 
2018-2019 

 
Page 11



  

 
2 

  CONTENTS 

 

 

FOREWORD …………………………..……………………………………………...Page 3 

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND…………………………………………...Page 4 

PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT - 

SUMMARY OF PROGRESS AGAINST DELIVERING THE COUNCIL’S  

EQUALITY OBJECTIVES…………………………………………………………..Page  8 

EMPLOYEE AWARENESS……………………………………………….............Page 18           

WORKFORCE DATA……………………………………………………………….Page 19 

PROCUREMENT……………………………………………………………………Page 20 

CONTACT INFORMATION………………………………………………………..Page 21 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 12



  

 
3 

  FOREWORD 

 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) is pleased to introduce the third 

Annual Report for its Strategic Equality Plan for 2016-2020. This Strategic Equality 

Plan was prepared in line with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 (Statutory 

Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011 and was approved by Council on 23rd March 2016.  

Through the Strategic Equality Plan this Annual Equality Report for 2018-2019 is 

testament to the Council’s ongoing drive to progress its equality agenda and deliver 

our Equalities Vision for Merthyr Tydfil, which is:  

 A place where diversity is valued and respected and everyone can participate, 

flourish and have the opportunity to fulfil their potential free from 

discrimination and prejudice.  

The Council is working towards delivering this Vision through our role as a 

community leader, service provider, commissioner, employer and working in 

partnership to reduce inequalities and to improve the well-being of the County 

Borough.  

I commend this Annual Report to you and look forward to sharing the progress that 

we make towards achieving fairness in equality in the County Borough of Merthyr 

Tydfil.                                                 

  

Councillor Kevin O’Neill 

Leader and Equalities & Diversity Champion 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 13



  

 
4 

   INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND  

 

Equality Act 2010  

The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) brings together and replaces the previous anti-

discrimination laws with a single Act. It simplifies and strengthens the law, removes 

inconsistencies and makes it easier for people to understand and comply with it. The 

majority of the Act came into force on 1st October 2010.  

The Act includes a new public sector equality duty (the ‘general duty’), replacing the 

separate duties on race, disability and gender equality. This came into force on 5th 

April 2011.  

The new general duty covers the following protected characteristics:  

 Age 

 Disability  

 Gender Reassignment 

 Marriage and Civil Partnerships 

 Pregnancy and Maternity 

 Race – including ethnic or national origin, colour or nationality 

 Religion or belief – including lack of belief 

 Sex (Gender) 

 Sexual orientation 
 

It applies to marriage and civil partnership, but only in respect of the requirement to 

have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination. 

 

What is the general duty?  

The aim of the general duty is to ensure that public authorities and those carrying out 

a public function consider how they can positively contribute to a fairer society 

through advancing equality and good relations in their day-to-day activities. The duty 

ensures that equality considerations are built into the design of policies and the 

delivery of services and that they are kept under review. This will achieve better 

outcomes for all.  

When making decisions and delivering services we must have due regard to the 

need to:  

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 

conduct that is prohibited by the Equality Act 2010. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant 

protected characteristic and those who do not. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic 

and those who do not. 

 

Page 14



  

 
5 

The Specific Duties in Wales  

The broad purpose of the specific duties in Wales is to help listed bodies in their 

performance of the general duty and to aid transparency. 

The specific duties in Wales are set out in the Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) 

(Wales) Regulations 2011. The specific duties in Wales came into force on 6th April 

2011. 

The specific duties in Wales cover: 

 Objectives 

 Strategic Equality Plans 

 Engagement 

 Assessing impact 

 Equality information 

 Employment information 

 Pay differences 

 Staff training 

 Procurement 

 Annual reporting 

 Publishing 

 Welsh Ministers’ reporting 

 Review 

 Accessibility  

 

Strategic Equality Plan  

The specific duties in Wales included a requirement for listed bodies to develop and 

publish a Strategic Equality Plan every four years.  

As part of the review of the Council’s Strategic Equality Plan it was identified that an 

Equalities Vision for Merthyr Tydfil was essential in order to set out the Council’s 

ambition to eliminate discrimination / harassment, advance equality and foster good 

relations. 

 

 

 

 

Page 15



  

 
6 

The following Equalities Vision for Merthyr Tydfil has been developed. 

This Vision is supported by the following four Equality Objectives (listed in the table 

below) that are set out in the Council’s Strategic Equality Plan for 2016-2020. The 

Strategic Equality Plan for 2016-2020 was approved by Council on 23rd March 2016.  

 

Themes Equality Objectives 

 
Community 
Engagement 

Equality Objective 1 
Put Citizens’ voices at the heart of local decision making 
so that their contribution is understood, recognised and 
used to help the Council understand and respond to the 
needs of its communities. 

 
Equality Awareness 
Raising 

Equality Objective 2 
To support and facilitate Equalities training and learning 
opportunities so that staff at all levels, Councillors and 
partners recognise and incorporate Equalities as part of 
their role. 

 
Understanding our 
Staff and 
Communities 

Equality Objective 3 
Develop robust monitoring systems to collect, collate, 
monitor and publish equalities data on our employees and 
customers, which will help the Council to ensure that it 
provides fair and accessible services. 

 
Gender/Equal Pay 

Equality Objective 4  
Ensure equity of pay across Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council.  
 

 

These Equality Objectives will be delivered through an Action Plan that is set out in 

the Strategic Equality Plan for 2016-2020.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Our Equalities Vision for Merthyr Tydfil is; 

“A place where diversity is valued and respected and everyone can 

participate, flourish and have the opportunity to fulfil their potential free 

from discrimination and prejudice.” 

Page 16



  

 
7 

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

The Council’s Vision and Equality Objectives for 2016-2020 support the Council’s 

Well-being Objectives and the seven Well-being Goals (shown in the diagram below) 

and link to the five ways of working (the Sustainable Development Principle) that are 

set out in the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 17



  

 
8 

  PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT – SUMMARY OF PROGRESS    

  AGAINST DELIVERING THE COUNCIL’S EQUALITY OBJECTIVES 

 

Progress against delivering the Council’s Equality Objectives for 2018-19 have been 

as follows: 

 

Integrated Impact Assessment 

In line with the requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 

2015 the Council developed an Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA). The IIA 

incorporates the Council’s Well-being Objectives, the Sustainable Development 

principles, Equalities, Welsh language and Biodiversity, to support effective decision 

making. 

The Council continues to ensure we are adopting the IIA for projects. When 

implementing significant change the IIA ensures that the Council is taking into 

account the impact decisions could have on the people and communities of Merthyr 

Tydfil now and in the future. 

 

Cwm Taf Well-being Plan 

Last year the Cwm Taf Public Services Board (PSB) published a Well-being 

Assessment of the people and communities of Cwm Taf. In preparation for this, 

hundreds of people who live, work and use public services across the Cwm Taf area 

were consulted with. 

After more than two years of work the Cwm Taf Well-being Plan was launched on 

the 3rd May 2018, with involvement of the local community being central to it. 

The Plan worked to encompass the seven wellbeing goals, including the Cohesive 

Communities and A More Equal Wales goals. This includes a society that enables 

people to fulfil their potential no matter what their background or circumstances; in 

particular strengthening the community to tackle loneliness and isolation.  

The plan also aims for Cwm Taf to be an attractive, viable, safe and well connected 

community where communities are provided with consistent messages, links and 

signposting to community, public sector and business support. 

Initially a Well-being Assessment was undertaken, looking at the assets and 

challenges of the communities of Cwm Taf in terms of their social, economic, 

environmental and cultural wellbeing.  

In listening to the communities, identifying the Well-being Objectives and prioritising 

what is needed to do to achieve them to make the plan a reality was at the heart of 

the decision making process. 

Work will begin to develop on delivering on the cross-cutting objectives that deliver 

against the Cohesive Communities and A More Equal Wales Goals. 

Page 18



  

 
9 

LGBT History Month  

The Rainbow and Transgender flags were raised outside the Civic Centre on 18th 

February 2019 to celebrate Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender (LGBT) History 

month in February as part of the Council’s commitment to supporting and engaging 

with the LGBT+ community within Merthyr Tydfil. The event was attended by the 

Mayor, our local Member of Parliament, our local Assembly Member, Councillors and 

Council staff, South Wales Police and members of the Youth Cabinet and Merthyr 

Tydfil Borough Wide Youth Forum (MTBWYF).  

We also raised awareness of LGBT+ History Month with the general public via Social 

Media posts promoting the month-long observance and the flag raising ceremony. 

 

International Day Against Homophobia, Transphobia and Biphobia 

There was a LGBT Flag Raising Ceremony in Merthyr Tydfil on 17th May 2018 to 

mark IDAHOT (International Day Against Homophobia, Transphobia and Biphobia). 

We also attended the LGBTQIA – Pink Iris Forum. This group is newly formed after 

the dissolution of the Visible SMT group. As the group are just starting out 

independently, support has also been given through the Local Authority and from 

Project Unity, the Rhondda Cynon Taff LGBT+ group.  

 

Pride Cymru 2018 

The Council was proud to be part of Pride Cymru in August in Cardiff, working with 

other Councils from across South Wales to promote equality for LGBT+ 

communities. As a ‘Proud Council’ our aim was to visibly show our commitment and 

support of the LGBT+ community in Wales and around the world. 

Also we wanted to engage with the LGBT+ community to find out what issues are 

important to them. We actively took part in the event by having a stall and 

encouraging visitors to discuss how councils can improve the experiences of local 

LGBT+ people across South Wales when accessing public services. 

To celebrate this event the Rainbow flag was raised outside the Civic Centre on the 

same day as Pride Cymru. 

 

Transgender Day of Remembrance 

For Transgender Day of Remembrance on 20th November and International 

Transgender Day of Visibility on 31st March, both Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 

Council and Rhondda Cynon Taff County Borough Council are committed to 

supporting trans members of staff, service users and young people to ensure they do 

not feel discriminated in their place of work, communities or when accessing 

services.  

Page 19



  

 
10 

Transgender Inclusion Toolkit and Guidance 

MTCBC developed a Transgender Inclusion Toolkit and Guidance working in 

partnership with the Vale of Glamorgan Council. The aim of the Toolkit and 

Guidance is to support transgender and gender questioning children and young 

people, which offers an opportunity to raise awareness of gender identity whilst 

providing support and guidance to create a positive and inclusive education.   

It is a valuable tool for all staff working with children and young people that ensures 

transgender and gender questioning young people are supported in an appropriate, 

consistent and equal manner.   

This Toolkit and Guidance continues to enable schools to further develop whole 

school policy and practice that will allow transgender or gender questioning children 

and young people to achieve at school.  

 

Ethnic Minorities Group 

We have held meetings with the EYST (Ethnic Minorities and Youth Support Team) 

Wales to look at establishing a Cwm Taf BAME (Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic) 

group. The EYST is an award-winning voluntary organisation which was set up to 

support ethnic minority people in Wales. We are working closely with EYST to begin 

a consultation exercise with BAME students and residents in Cwm Taf, with the 

possibility of developing the local BAME group. 

 

Insport 

Development of the MTCBC insport Gold submission has continued throughout 

2018-19. To date we are the only Local Authority to have attended the Disability 

Sport Wales insport Gold Pre-Panel, outlining their priority areas as part of the 

submission.  These include the development of coaching and volunteering roles for 

disabled people and the development of new adult opportunities. 

The Disability Sport Merthyr forum has continued to develop over 2018-19.  There 

are currently 15 disabled members actively volunteering their time at events, 

sessions and in regular development meetings. The forum has also successfully 

accessed grant funding to develop new projects. Also, 7 of the members completed 

an employability programme with Swansea City FC Community Foundation. 

We continued to pilot the insport education programme, with 3 local schools working 

their way through the scheme.  We are currently the only Local Authority in Wales to 

be running the programme.  

Close working relationships continue to be forged with the Health Board, particularly 

with Paediatric OT and Physio departments.  A robust referral process is in place 

which sees disabled participants formally referred into sport and physical activity 

interventions. 

Page 20



  

 
11 

Welsh Language 

In 2018 MTCBC launched a new initiative called the #Shwmaeronment Campaign 

which is about encouraging the use of the Welsh language in the workplace and 

wider community. The main aim is for people to start using different Welsh words 

and phrases with one another in a ‘unique bilingual environment’. As part of the 

initiative we encouraged schools in the County Borough to get involved in a 

competition to help the launch. Pupils were asked to design a logo for 

#Shwmaeronment and the winning entry was developed into an official logo which 

was used in posters and other literature that was displayed across Merthyr Tydfil.  

As part of the Council’s Welsh Language continuous improvement programme we 

developed a mystery shopper project in partnership with Menter Iaith Merthyr Tudful, 

to independently assess the Council’s provision of Welsh language services. It was 

carried out between February and March 2019. Any areas for improvement identified 

in the findings will be used to inform the Council’s Welsh Language Programme for 

2019-2020 and beyond. 

We developed a Welsh language customer telephone and greeting training course 

with the aim to upskill MTCBC staff to support the Council’s provision of Welsh 

language services to the communities of Merthyr Tydfil. During 2017-2018 over 75 

members of front line staff received training, and during 2018-2019 over 40 members 

received the refresher training. 

The Council continues to work in partnership with Dysgu Cymraeg Morgannwg/Learn 

Welsh Glamorgan to provide work place training opportunities for staff and 

Councillors. Nine members of staff have successfully achieved the WJEC Entry 

Certificate in Welsh Second Language. The Council currently has 25 members of 

staff learning Welsh in the workplace. 

We also continue to provide ongoing social opportunities for learners to listen and 

practice their Welsh.  These include holding coffee mornings, festive events and 

attending Welsh language events such as “Llwybrau Llafar” at St Fagans National 

Museum of History. A weekly community Welsh class has also been set up in 

Heolgerrig, Merthyr Tydfil.  

The Council’s Welsh language service and Active Merthyr Tydfil continue to work in 

partnership to support an Urdd Sports Development Apprentice Project. The purpose 

of the project is for the Welsh language to continue to become more prevalent in the 

community by providing sporting opportunities for young people through the medium 

of Welsh. In 2018/19, some key developments include the running of five after 

school clubs, five community clubs and a summer tennis club.  

The Welsh Language Standards require the Council to compile an Annual Report, in 

relation to each financial year, that deals with the way that it has complied with the 

Service Delivery, Policy Making and Operational Standards.   

The Council's Welsh Language Annual Monitoring Report for 2018-2019 can be 

found on the Council's website. 

 

Page 21



  

 
12 

Gypsy/Traveller 

A Gypsy/Traveller Officer has been appointed within MTCBC as part of the 

Community Safety Team. Already work has started on developing an action plan for 

the Glynmil Gypsy and Traveller Site in supporting the residents. Gypsy/Traveller 

Steering Groups are also going to be established. 

A Gypsy/Traveller Ministerial Visit took place on the Glynmil site in Merthyr Tydfil on 

18th October 2018. Representatives from Welsh Government and MTCBC discussed 

work that has been undertaken recently and issues regarding ownership of the site. 

The Gypsy/Traveller Play Project in Merthyr Tydfil was an initiative set up in 

partnership between Torfaen Play and Short Break Services and MTCBC. An 

agreement was made to commission Torfaen Play Service to deliver 6 Family Play 

Sessions and a 4-day play scheme on the Glynmil Site. The aim of the family play 

sessions was to engage with parents and their children on site through play and 

creating a social place for families to meet where they would be supported by a team 

of play workers.  A number of children accessed the play sessions, however 

engaging with the parents proved more difficult.  

Four days of play schemes were also held on site. The project ran from 26th 

February 2019 to 1st of March 2019. Each session ran for 4 hours between 11am 

and 3pm. An average of 8 children a day took part and some parents did join in with 

the activities and stayed for a short time each day to check on their children. 

Feedback from the sessions was positive and many parents and children hope for 

more session in the future. 

 

Communities for Work+ 

We met with the new Communities for Work+ teams to establish links to our most 

vulnerable community members and to assist all those who are looking to gain 

employment. 

 

Migrants 

We continue to monitor the needs of any economic migrants within the community, 

particularly around the possible implications from Brexit. We are continuing to 

monitor immigration trends, and discussions have been held around Brexit 

implications and the Right to Remain. 

We also continue to work closely with partner organisations, in particular the local 

Hate Crime Officers, to monitor any potential community tensions. 

We attended the United We Stand Conference on 21st March 2019 around solidarity 

amongst diverse communities in the context of Brexit. 

Working with the Welsh Government’s Supporting EU Citizens Grant Scheme 

project, a Brexit EU Settlement Scheme Awareness Training was delivered to 

Page 22



  

 
13 

Council staff. Staff from different services across the Council attended the training, 

including Registrars, Human Resources, Housing and Supporting People, Social 

Services, Benefits, Revenues, Financial Assessment, Grants and Customer 

Services. The training gave an excellent insight into the implications of the 

Settlement Scheme and how it impacts on citizens living in Merthyr Tydfil. 

Information pages on the implications of Brexit for EU Citizens have been set up on 

the Council’s website pages. 

 

Racism 

On 19th October 2018, school pupils in the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough were 

asked to wear red in support of the anti-racism education charity ‘Show Racism the 

Red Card Wales’, and to fundraise for the Wear Red Day. Pupils also had the 

opportunity to enter a creative competition. It was a way of encouraging young 

peoples’ interest in anti-racism and to provide an opportunity for pupils to express 

their feelings about racism and showcase their work. 

Over the summer months in 2018 there were some reports of racist graffiti at the 

Rhydycar skate park in Merthyr Tydfil. Rather than simply paint over the graffiti as 

soon as possible, the Local Authority and partner organisations including the Youth 

Offending Team decided to run an engagement event with the young people. As part 

of this engagement, a professional artist worked with a total of 53 young people who 

are regular users of the park to cover the ramps of the skate park with appropriate 

graffiti. The designs and ideas all came from the young people themselves and 

whilst doing this, they underwent a learning and educating exercise talking about 

racist graffiti. 

 

Hate Crime 

A new Hate Crime Officer came into post in August 2018. Links are already 

established for close partnership working. 

We attended the Hate Crime Review Group monthly meetings with South Wales 

Police and Partner Organisations to discuss all the Hate Crime Action Plans 

currently running within Cwm Taf. 

For Hate Crime Awareness Week in October, the Cwm Taf Community Cohesion 

Coordinator worked closely with the Cohesion Officer in Rhondda Cynon Taff County 

Borough Council and South Wales Police to conduct a week long engagement 

timetable targeting numerous businesses, leisure centres and schools. A total of 26 

events were held across Cwm Taf. A total of 830 residents took part in our survey, 

and a much greater unrecorded number were engaged with on a more informal 

basis. A prime time slot was also provided on the local radio station GTFM for their 

drive time show where local officers discussed Hate Crime and how to report it.  

South Wales Police also had use of the ‘Pride Car’ that was taken to four different 

events across Rhondda Cynon Taff and Merthyr Tydfil. This gained great interest 

Page 23



  

 
14 

from members of the public and increased levels of awareness for reporting hate 

crime. 

The week culminated with a televised event being held at Pontypridd RFC with 

players and mascots holding the ‘Be Heard’ banner. The club also provided printed 

articles in their programs explaining what hate crime is and how to report it. Although 

it is impossible to quantify the number of people who the article reached, hundreds of 

people attended the game and each person was provided with a program. 

We continue to attend the Hate Crime Monthly Meetings in partnership with South 

Wales Police where all Hate Crime incidents/crimes are discussed. 

Numerous Hate Crime & Anti-Social Behaviour Community Safety Action Days were 

held across Cwm Taf in partnership with both Rhondda Cynon Taff County Borough 

Council & Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council and South Wales Police. These 

engagement days were to promote the new ‘People Patrol’ newsletter. The 

newsletter is designed for anyone who is interested in current events relating to anti-

social behaviour issues and any crimes that are affecting our communities. This 

newsletter allows both Council’s Community Safety Teams, South Wales Police and 

South Wales Fire and Rescue Services to make residents and business owners 

more aware of issues such as crime prevention, community safety/cohesion issues 

and anti-social behaviour and how issues can be reported. 

In addition, the emailing system will also enable partner agencies such as the Police 

to be able to email subscribers immediately to make them aware of any crime/issues 

taking place in the area that may affect them. 

 

Anti-Bullying 

For Anti-Bullying Week, on 15th November, an event was held in The College, 

Merthyr Tydfil which featured presentations and workshops on themes including 

substance misuse, anti-bullying and post Brexit/diversity.  

Pupils from Merthyr Tydfil’s secondary schools and 19 primary schools attended the 

conference. The theme was ‘Well-being and Resilience’. The Cwm Taf Community 

Cohesion Coordinator and the Council’s Gypsy/Traveller Officer held a workshop 

around hate-related bullying particularly around Gypsy/Travellers. 

 

Human Rights 

Officers from MTCBC attended the Equality and Human Rights Exchange Annual 

Conference on 19th June 2018 at Cardiff City Stadium. The aim of the event was to 

look at how to tackle identity based violence, what our responsibility is for tackling 

the challenge of identify based violence and how we can make a difference to 

improve services and the workforce for people who are experiencing identify based 

violence. 

 

Page 24



  

 
15 

50+ Forum 

We attended the 50+ Forum on 6th September 2018 at High Street Baptist Church in 

Merthyr Tydfil. The event focused on tackling loneliness and community involvement, 

and provided a good networking opportunity for attendees. The forum is designed to 

represent the rights and views of people aged 50+ across the County Borough, and 

to consult with and inform on matters of interest to them. Information and advice was 

given by the Community Safety Team as well as numerous inclusion groups and 

organisations from across Merthyr Tydfil.  

 

Armed Forces Community Covenant 

Merthyr Tydfil has a proud record of valuing its armed services, both serving and 

retired. Being part of The Armed Forces Covenant is our commitment to supporting 

our Armed Forces Personnel and their families in a number of areas such as 

education, well-being, healthcare, employment, housing and financial assistance. 

A Veteran Advice Officer (VAO) has been in post since January 2019, and they 

support both MTCBC and RCTCBC. 

The VAO actively attends Veteran groups within the CWM Taf area. We have 

received valuable feedback from veterans and as such a timetable has been 

updated for drop-in advice surgeries in RCT. 

Good relationships have been developed with key organisations such as SSAFA (the 

Armed Forces Charity), The Royal British Legion and Change Step who offer support 

for veterans, their families and carers in Wales – to access vital support services and 

to tackle serious stress and related issues. 

Quarterly meetings are held between us and neighbouring Local Authorities, to share 

good practices and ideas. 

To engage with as many veterans as possible and to raise awareness of services, 

marketing leaflets have been distributed throughout MTCBC and RCTCBC. We have 

created Armed Forces Covenant webpages on our Council website which gives 

further information about the services we provide to armed forces personnel, plus 

there is also a veteran advice service that provides free advice and support. The 

Veteran Advice Service is being promoted on Social Media. 

We continue to offer free swimming for armed forces personnel and veterans at our 

two Leisure Centres. Also a bi-monthly coffee morning continues to be held at 

Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Centre. 

 

Inspire2  

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council has worked in partnership with Blaenau 

Gwent County Borough Council, as the lead authority, together with other 

neighbouring Councils in developing the Inspire2 Work project. 

Page 25



  

 
16 

Inspire2 Work is a project that works with young people aged 16-24 who are not in 

employment, education or training. We provide support to improve confidence, self-

esteem and their ability to work as part of a team through mentoring, advice, 

guidance and career planning. 

 

Holocaust Memorial Day 

For Holocaust Memorial Day an event was held in Treorchy Library on 31st January 

2019 in conjunction with RCTCBC staff and Library staff. This event was open to 

members of the public and local school children. 

At the event, presentations were provided by pupils from Treorchy Comprehensive 

School. We also had poems and survivor stories read out by local councillors, 

council workers and the local police teams. A candle was lit in remembrance during 

the service.  

Holocaust Memorial Day was celebrated in Merthyr Tydfil on the 27th January 2019 

with a parade starting at the fountain in Merthyr Tydfil, through the town, then ending 

at the Holocaust Memorial Garden. Wreaths were then laid at the garden before 

everyone made their way to St David’s Church for the annual memorial service. 

There were approximately 150 attendees. In the run up to Holocaust Memorial Day, 

the Library Service visited a number of schools and scout groups to promote the 

Holocaust Memorial Day message. 

 

Children’s Rights (UNCRC) 

In July, St Mary’s Catholic Primary School become the first school in Merthyr Tydfil 

to achieve a prestigious national children’s right award. The school has been 

awarded the Unicef Rights Respecting Schools (RRSA) Gold Award – the highest 

possible accolade awarded by the charity – in recognition of its achievement in 

putting the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) at the 

heart of the school’s planning, policies, practice and ethos. 

 

White Ribbon Day 

On the 25th November it was White Ribbon Day – which is international elimination of 

violence against women. Local schools ran some activities around white ribbon with 

their pupils. Plus White Ribbon badges and pendants were available to buy in the 

Civic Centre.    

 

World Down Syndrome Day 

World Down Syndrome Day was held on 21st March 2019, and is a global awareness 

day. To show support Council staff and Councillors were encouraged to take part in 

Page 26



  

 
17 

the ‘Lots of Socks’ campaign whereby they were asked to wear their funkiest, 

craziest or odd socks for a donation to the Down’s Syndrome Association. 

 

Protected Characteristic Fact Sheets 

The Council continues to provide information on the Protected Characteristics to staff 

in the form of fact sheets. The fact sheets improve knowledge of equality issues per 

protected characteristic, improves understanding of our customers and promotes 

equalities in the workplace. 

The fact sheets are available on the Council’s intranet for staff to access and will be 

used in any future Equality training for staff and Councillors.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 27



  

 
18 

  EMPLOYEE AWARENESS 

 

Information on the Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty is available on 

the Council’s Intranet and Internet.  

The Council has identified the following Equality Objective as part its Strategic 

Equality Plan for 2016-2020, which will support the Council in continuing to raise 

awareness about Equalities:  

 To support and facilitate Equalities training and learning opportunities so that 

staff at all levels, Councillors and partners recognise and incorporate 

Equalities as part of their role.  

 

Training and Continued Professional Development  

Training and Continued Professional Development is a key element of the Council’s 

Performance Management Framework for Performance Appraisals and One to 

Ones. This enables employee training needs for Equalities to be identified and 

addressed. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 28



  

 
19 

  WORKFORCE DATA 

 

The Council has identified the following Equality Objective as part of its Strategic 

Equality Plan for 2016-2020, which supports the Council in understanding the profile 

of its employees: 

 Develop robust monitoring systems to collect, collate, monitor and publish 

equalities data on our employees and customers, which will help the Council 

to ensure that it provides fair and accessible services.  

  

Workforce data for the Council as at 31st March 2019 is attached as Appendix A. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 29



  

 
20 

  PROCUREMENT 

 

The Council considers it essential that all organisations wishing to provide goods or 

services on its behalf are able to demonstrate that all reasonable and practicable 

steps are taken to allow equal access and equal treatment in employment, service 

delivery and training for all.   

The Council uses the European Single Procurement Document (ESPD) blended with 

appropriate supplier qualification questions and has added its own specific equalities 

related questions to it. The Council’s standard Invitation to Tender (ITT) templates 

includes a specific equalities statement with the inclusion of contract clauses relating 

to the Equality Act 2010 and the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011. Equalities 

and Welsh Language related clauses to its standard terms and conditions for 

contracts are added when required.   

The Council underpins the principles of the Welsh Procurement Policy Statement 

2015 (WPPS) and its ten main themes through a fit for purpose procurement 

strategy that provides strategic direction and coordination to comply with corporate 

priorities and the WPPS. The WPPS includes themes such as Economic, Social and 

Environmental Impacts, Community Benefits and Open, Accessible Competition.  

The Equalities and Welsh language elements of the Procurement Process in relation 

to Tendering and Request for Quote Documentation have been reviewed in line with 

Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011 and the Welsh 

Language (Wales) Measure 2011.  

These documents support the Council in ensuring that all third party suppliers 

demonstrate compliance with these requirements, where relevant to the nature and 

type of goods and services being provided on its behalf.  

The Council is a signatory of the Ethical Employment in Supply Chains Code of 

Practice. Modern Slavery, Blacklisting and Employment Practices have been 

incorporated into the Pre-qualification/Selection stage questionnaires for all 

applicable Tender activity.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 30



  

 
21 

  CONTACT INFORMATION 

 

We welcome comments on the report and if you want to know more about the work 

the Council is doing please use the contact details below: 

 

Equalities 

Civic Centre 

Castle Street 

Merthyr Tydfil 

CF47 8AN 

Tel: 01685 725000 

equality@merthyr.gov.uk 

 

The report is available in Welsh.  

To make a request please use the contact details above. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 31

mailto:equality@merthyr.gov.uk


  

 
22 

  WORKFORCE DATA – EMPLOYED STAFF AT THE COUNCIL 31ST MARCH 2018                                                APPENDIX A 

 

Number of Staff 

Permanent Fixed Term Full Time Part Time 

1821 411 1281 1016 

 

Age 

16-34 35-54 55-64 65+ TOTAL 

574 1288 404 31 2297 

 

Disability 

Deaf/Hard of 
Hearing 

Mental Health 
Difficulties 

Mobility 
Impairment 

Learning 
Impairment 

Long-Standing 
Illness 

Visual 
Impairment 

13 7 8 3 44 4 

 

Other No Disability Prefer not to 
Answer/Not Known 

TOTAL 

16 1880 322 2297 

 

Gender 

Male Female TOTAL 

572 1725 2297 

 

 

P
age 32



  

 
23 

Sexual Orientation 

Gay Woman/Lesbian Gay Man Bisexual Heterosexual/Straight Other Prefer not to 
Answer/Not 

Known 

TOTAL 

12 15 2 1919 0 349 2297 

 

Religion 

Christianity No Religion Buddhism Judaism Islamic Hinduism Other Prefer not to 
Answer/Not 

Known 

TOTAL 

689 869 4 1 4 1 138 591 2297 

 

Ethnicity 

White British White Other Asian Black 
Caribbean 

Black 
African 

Mixed 
Race 

Prefer not to 
Answer/Not Known 

TOTAL 

1919 23 10 1 21 1 322 2297 

 

First Language 

English Welsh Maltese Polish German Portuguese French 

1527 35 1 9 1 1 1 

 

Spanish Filipino Thai Prefer not to Answer/Not Known TOTAL 

1 1 1 719 2297 

 

 

P
age 33



  

 
24 

People Profile - Salary 

 

 

Salary All Staff 

Male Female 

Full Time Part Time Full Time Part Time 
£0 - £4,999 0 26 0 444 
£5,000 - £9,999 0 20 0 190 
£10,000 - £14,999 7 39 2 279 
£15,000 - £19,999 40 37 24 334 
£20,000 - £24,999 145 4 99 57 
£25,000 - £29,999 82 3 114 22 
£30,000 - £39,999 123 6 301 23 
£40,000 - £49,999 39 0 45 2 
£50,000 - £59,999 10 0 17 0 
£60,000 - £69,999 15 0 17 0 
£70,000+ 8 0 2 0 
Calculated: Total 
number of salaries 

469 135 621 1351 

TOTAL 938 270 1242 2702 

 

NB- The figures include staff with multiple posts 

Job Applications 

In terms of the number of staff who applied for a job internally at the Council, we received 242 internal applications of which 78 

were Male and 164 were Female. 

In terms of external applicants the Council received 1,230 external applications of which 296 were Male and 934 were Female. 

P
age 34



  

 
25 

 

 Number of employees involved in 
grievance procedure 

   

Protected 
Characteristics 

As the complainant A person against 
whom a complaint 
was made 

Number of 
employees subject 
to disciplinary 
procedures 

Number of 
employees who 
have left the 
Authority 

Number of Staff 
taking Maternity 
Leave 

Age 2 1 24 211 46 

16-34 0 0 5 69 28 

35-54 1 1 14 77 18 

55-64 1 0 5 48 0 

65+ 0 0 0 17 0 

      

Sex 2 1 24 211 46 

Male 2 1 9 55 0 

Female 0 0 15 156 46 

      

Disability 0 0 0 211 46 

Disabled 0 0 0 13 1 

Non-Disabled 0 0 0 176 41 

Prefer not to 
Answer/Not Known 

0 0 0 22 4 

      

Sexual Orientation 2 1 24 211 46 

Heterosexual 0 0 0 185 41 

Lesbian/Gay 0 0 0 2 0 

Bi-Sexual 0 0 0 0 0 

Other 0 0 0 0 0 

Prefer not to Answer/ 
Not Known 

2 1 24 24 5 

      

P
age 35



  

 
26 

Ethnic Group 2 1 24 211 46 

English/Welsh 2 1 24 184 41 

White Other 0 0 0 6 0 

Asian 0 0 0 0 1 

Black African 0 0 0 1 0 

Prefer not to 
Answer/Not Known 

0 0 0 20 4 

      

Religion or Belief 2 1 24 211 46 

No Religion 0 0 0 97 27 

Christianity (all 
Denominations) 

0 0 0 56 9 

Islamic 0 0 0 0 0 

Buddhism 0 0 0 0 0 

Other 0 0 0 21 1 

Prefer not to 
Answer/Not Known 

2 1 24 37 9 

 

Gender/Equal Pay 

The Council undertakes regular gender pay gap reporting. All jobs are evaluated using the Greater London Provincial Council 

scheme of Job Evaluation (with the exception of Heads of Service who are processed via the HAY Scheme). No personal 

information regarding the post holder is taken into account at this stage. As a result, the grading system is free of any unconscious 

bias. The grades and additional payment mechanisms in operation at the Council are provided on a gender neutral basis. 

Therefore, there are no obvious discrepancies between genders during the reporting.  

There is no inequality in pay. All jobs are scored fairly and consistently in accordance with the Greater London Provincial Council 

scheme. Our policies and procedures are continually monitored and reviewed to ensure that there are no hidden or perceived 

barriers. Historically, the Council together with Trade Unions undertook a lot of work with the implementation of single status and 

the new pay spine. 

P
age 36



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Strategic Equality Plan 2020-2024 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The Public Sector Equality Duty includes a requirement for public authorities to 

develop and publish a Strategic Equality Plan every four years. 
 
1.2 The Council’s Strategic Equality Plan and Equality Objectives for 2016-2020 were 

approved by Full Council on 23rd March 2016. 
 
1.3 A Strategic Equality Plan for 2020-2024 has been developed for the Council in 

partnership with Council officers and partners. Feedback from the consultation has 
been taken into consideration when developing the objectives. 

 
1.4 The Strategic Equality Plan includes the Equalities Vision for Merthyr Tydfil 

supported by five Equality Objectives for 2020-2024. These objectives will be 
monitored and delivered through a detailed Action Plan as part of the Strategic 
Equality Plan. The Strategic Equality Plan 2020-2024 can be found in Appendix 1. 

 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 The Strategic Equality Plan 2020-2024 be discussed and progressed to Council for 

approval. 
 
 
 

Date Written 9th March 2020 

Report Author Lorna Townsend 

Service Area Business Change 

Committee Division Strategic 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 25th March 2020 

Page 37

Agenda Item 2



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The Council has had in place a four year Strategic Equality Plan which was 

approved in March 2016. This plan has undergone revision in order to reflect 
changes in best practice. The Strategic Equality Plan sets out how the Council aims 
to meet the commitment to equality and how to meet the legal obligations as found 
within the Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty. 

 
3.2  The Equality Act 2010 brings together and replaces the previous anti-discrimination 

laws with a single Act. It simplifies and strengthens the law, removes inconsistences 
and makes it easier for people to understand and comply with it.  

 
3.3 The Act includes a new Public Sector Equality Duty (the ‘general duty’), replacing the 

separate duties on race, disability and gender equality.  
 
3.4 The general duty covers the following protected characteristics: 
 

 Age 

 Disability  

 Gender Reassignment 

 Marriage and Civil Partnership 

 Pregnancy and Maternity 

 Race – including ethnic or national origin, colour or nationality 

 Religion or belief – including lack of belief 

 Sex (Gender) 

 Sexual orientation 
  
3.5 The aim of the general duty is to ensure that public authorities and those carrying out 

a public function consider how they can positively contribute to a fairer society 
through advancing equality and good relations in their day-to-day activities. The duty 
ensures that equality considerations are built into the design of policies and the 
delivery of services and that they are kept under review. This will achieve better 
outcomes for all. 

 
3.6  When making decisions and delivering services public authorities must have due 

regard to the need to: 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct that is prohibited by the Act. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. 

 
3.7 In advancing equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 

characteristic and those who don’t the Council must also ensure that we: 
 Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a relevant 

protected characteristic and are connected to that characteristic.  

Page 38



 Encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to participate 
in public life or in any other activity in which participation is disproportionately 
low. 

 Meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected characteristic that 
are different from the needs of persons who do not share it. 

 
 

Specific duties in Wales  
 
3.8  There are specific statutory duties placed upon the Council which set out what 

actions the Council must take to comply. The broad purpose of the specific duties in 
Wales is to help listed bodies in their performance of the general duty and to aid 
transparency. The specific duties in Wales came were published by Welsh 
Government in April 2011. 

 
3.9  A listed body in Wales must:   

 Publish objectives to meet the general duty. 
 Publish a statement setting out the steps it has taken or intends to take to meet 

the objectives and how long it expects to take to meet each objective.  
 Make appropriate arrangements to monitor progress towards meeting its 

objectives and to monitor the effectiveness of its approach.  
 Give appropriate consideration to relevant equality information it holds when 

considering what its equality objectives should be.  
  
 
3.10  As part of this requirement listed bodies must also: 
  

 Have due regard to the need to have objectives to address the causes of any 
pay differences that seem reasonably likely to be related to any of the protected 
characteristics. 

 Publish an equality objective to address any gender pay gap identified or else 
publish reasons why it has not done so.   

 
3.11  The Council’s Strategic Equality Plan and Equality Objectives for 2016-2020 were 

approved by Full Council on 23rd March 2016. 
 
3.12  Progress on delivering these Equality Objectives is reported as part of the Council’s 

Annual Equality Report that is considered and approved by Cabinet. 
 
 

4.0 STRATEGIC EQUALITY PLAN 2020-2024 
 
4.1 The Public Sector Equality Duty requires the Council to review its Strategic Equality 

Plan and Objectives at least every four years. 
 
4.2 Prior to consulting on the objectives with staff and the workforce, a workshop was 

held with Corporate Management Team and Senior Leadership Team to gather 
views on the objectives to consult on. 

 
4.3 The themes and objectives are shown below: 

Page 39



 
 Inclusive Engagement and Participation - Engage with our Citizens to 

participate and have their voices heard to understand and respond to the needs 
of our communities. 

 Community Cohesion - Promote and facilitate inclusive, safe and cohesive 
communities. 

 Inclusive and Diverse Workforce - Create an inclusive and diverse workforce, 
which reflects the communities in Merthyr Tydfil. 

 Gender/Equal Pay - Ensure equity of pay across Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council. (The gender pay objective is a requirement of the Public Sector Equality 
Duty). 

 Accessible Services - Understand and remove the barriers people face when 
accessing our services. 

 
4.4 The theme ‘Accessible Services’ was included following the consultation as 

accessibility was raised in the consultation responses. We have listened to our 
workforce and the community and included this additional objective. We have also 
ensured that we integrate and include actions relating to the Welsh Language.  

 
4.5 The Council consulted with the workforce, public and community groups during a 12 

week consultation period (16th December 2019 to 10th February 2020) to involve as 
many views as possible in developing the objectives and to give an opportunity for 
suggestions to be made or ideas for other objectives. There were 34 responses in 
total. The following demonstrates the percentage of responses who agreed with the 
Council’s Vision and Equality Objectives; 

 
 Vision = 94% 
 Inclusive Engagement and Participation = 97% 
 Community Cohesion = 94% 
 Inclusive and Diverse Workforce = 88% 
 Gender/Equal Pay = 91% 
 Accessible Services (This was included as a result of the consultation). 

 
4.6 Feedback from the consultation was supportive of the draft objectives. Areas for 

improvement and barriers were identified. We have taken into account the comments 
that were raised in the consultation. Further meetings with Managers have been 
undertaken to finalise the actions included within the plan.  

 
4.7 The plan has been developed to reflect our commitment to equality in the County 

Borough of Merthyr Tydfil and to ensure we are meeting our statutory obligations as 
found within the Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty. It is a fit for 
purpose document and has been developed in line with legislative requirements and 
guidance produced by the Equality and Human Rights Commission. 

 
 

5.0 DELIVERING, PUBLISHING AND MONITORING 
 
5.1 The Councils Equality Objectives for 2020-2024 will be monitored and delivered 

through the Action Plan, as part of the Strategic Equality Plan 2020-2024. 
 

Page 40



5.2  The Council will publish an Annual Equality Report that will provide information on: 

 Delivery of the Strategic Equality Plan 

 Progress on the objectives and actions 

 Employment monitoring information 
 
5.3 The plan will be reviewed annually to ensure that actions are SMART (Specific, 

Measurable, Achievable, Realistic and Time-Bound), and fit for purpose and that 
new legislation/guidance is factored into the plan. This will enable us to continuously 
improve the plan. 

 

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
6.1 There are no specific financial implications identified in this report. Any financial 

implications arising from the delivery of the Strategic Equality Plan for 2020-2024 will 
be reported to Cabinet/Council as appropriate, including potential options for funding. 

 
 

7.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
10 of 10 0 of 10 0 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary: 
 
The main positive impacts are that the plan reflects our commitment to equality in the 
County Borough and also in meeting the duties and obligations placed upon us. The 
plan also ensures that we are thinking long term and preventing problems from arising. 
Ensuring that involvement and collaboration is undertaken and that it links to other 
strategies which assist is our work to ensure that we have inclusive communities free 
from discrimination. 
 
The plan positively impacts on the Council’s Wellbeing Objectives, the five ways of 

Page 41



working and the protected characteristics (including Welsh language). 
 
No negative impacts have been identified.  

 

 
ELLIS COOPER 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY 
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Strategic Equality Plan 
2016-2020 

 

March 2016 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council Website 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

 
 

Page 42



         MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL - STRATEGIC EQUALITY PLAN 2020-2024 

      

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

                                    MERTHYR TYDFIL    

             COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

STRATEGIC  

EQUALITY PLAN  
2020-2024 

 

Page 43



Page 2 of 23 

      

         MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL - STRATEGIC EQUALITY PLAN 2020-2024 

 
 

WELCOME TO MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL’S STRATEGIC EQUALITY PLAN 

2020-2024 .................................................................................................................................. 3 

ABOUT US ................................................................................................................................... 4 

OUR VISION, VALUES AND OBJECTIVES ..................................................................................... 5 

PURPOSE OF THE STRATEGIC EQUALITY PLAN 2020-2024 ........................................................ 7 

OUR EQUALITY OBJECTIVES FOR 2020-2024 ........................................................................... 12 

THEME: INCLUSIVE ENGAGEMENT AND PARTICIPATION .................................................... 13 

OBJECTIVE: ENGAGE WITH OUR CITIZENS TO PARTICIPATE AND HAVE THEIR VOICES 

HEARD TO UNDERSTAND AND RESPOND TO THE NEEDS OF OUR COMMUNITIES. ........ 13 

THEME: COMMUNITY COHESION ........................................................................................ 14 

OBJECTIVE: PROMOTE AND FACILITATE INCLUSIVE, SAFE AND COHESIVE 

COMMUNITIES. ................................................................................................................. 14 

THEME: INCLUSIVE AND DIVERSE WORKFORCE .................................................................. 15 

OBJECTIVE: CREATE AN INCLUSIVE AND DIVERSE WORKFORCE, WHICH REFLECTS THE 

COMMUNITIES IN MERTHYR TYDFIL. ............................................................................... 15 

THEME: GENDER / EQUAL PAY ............................................................................................. 17 

OBJECTIVE: ENSURE EQUITY OF PAY ACROSS MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH 

COUNCIL. .......................................................................................................................... 17 

THEME: ACCESSIBLE SERVICES ............................................................................................. 18 

OBJECTIVE: UNDERSTAND AND REMOVE THE BARRIERS PEOPLE FACE WHEN ACCESSING 

OUR SERVICES. .................................................................................................................. 18 

DEVELOPING THE OBJECTIVES ................................................................................................. 19 

DELIVERING, MONITORING AND REVIEWING THE PLAN ........................................................ 20 

FURTHER INFORMATION ......................................................................................................... 20 

SUMMARY OF OBJECTIVES AND ACTIONS ............................................................................... 21 

 

 

CONTENTS 

Page 44

file:///O:/BUSINESS%20CHANGE/Risk,%20Equalities,%20Welsh%20Language/Equalities/Strategic%20Equality%20Plan%202020-2024/2020-2024%20Plan/Strategic%20Equality%20Plan%202020-2024%20NEW.docx%23_Toc34128391
file:///O:/BUSINESS%20CHANGE/Risk,%20Equalities,%20Welsh%20Language/Equalities/Strategic%20Equality%20Plan%202020-2024/2020-2024%20Plan/Strategic%20Equality%20Plan%202020-2024%20NEW.docx%23_Toc34128391
file:///O:/BUSINESS%20CHANGE/Risk,%20Equalities,%20Welsh%20Language/Equalities/Strategic%20Equality%20Plan%202020-2024/2020-2024%20Plan/Strategic%20Equality%20Plan%202020-2024%20NEW.docx%23_Toc34128392
file:///O:/BUSINESS%20CHANGE/Risk,%20Equalities,%20Welsh%20Language/Equalities/Strategic%20Equality%20Plan%202020-2024/2020-2024%20Plan/Strategic%20Equality%20Plan%202020-2024%20NEW.docx%23_Toc34128393
file:///O:/BUSINESS%20CHANGE/Risk,%20Equalities,%20Welsh%20Language/Equalities/Strategic%20Equality%20Plan%202020-2024/2020-2024%20Plan/Strategic%20Equality%20Plan%202020-2024%20NEW.docx%23_Toc34128394
file:///O:/BUSINESS%20CHANGE/Risk,%20Equalities,%20Welsh%20Language/Equalities/Strategic%20Equality%20Plan%202020-2024/2020-2024%20Plan/Strategic%20Equality%20Plan%202020-2024%20NEW.docx%23_Toc34128395
file:///O:/BUSINESS%20CHANGE/Risk,%20Equalities,%20Welsh%20Language/Equalities/Strategic%20Equality%20Plan%202020-2024/2020-2024%20Plan/Strategic%20Equality%20Plan%202020-2024%20NEW.docx%23_Toc34128406
file:///O:/BUSINESS%20CHANGE/Risk,%20Equalities,%20Welsh%20Language/Equalities/Strategic%20Equality%20Plan%202020-2024/2020-2024%20Plan/Strategic%20Equality%20Plan%202020-2024%20NEW.docx%23_Toc34128407
file:///O:/BUSINESS%20CHANGE/Risk,%20Equalities,%20Welsh%20Language/Equalities/Strategic%20Equality%20Plan%202020-2024/2020-2024%20Plan/Strategic%20Equality%20Plan%202020-2024%20NEW.docx%23_Toc34128408
file:///O:/BUSINESS%20CHANGE/Risk,%20Equalities,%20Welsh%20Language/Equalities/Strategic%20Equality%20Plan%202020-2024/2020-2024%20Plan/Strategic%20Equality%20Plan%202020-2024%20NEW.docx%23_Toc34128409


Page 3 of 23 

      

         MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL - STRATEGIC EQUALITY PLAN 2020-2024 

We are pleased to introduce our Strategic Equality Plan 2020-2024. The purpose of this Plan 

is to improve equal opportunities within our communities through service delivery, 

employment, commissioning, leadership and working in partnership. 

We want a County Borough where everyone is treated equally and fairly in all aspects of their 

lives; where no one is discriminated against or placed at a disadvantage due to their 

background or identity.  

As a Council, we have a duty to tackle and challenge discrimination and disadvantage so that 

people feel safe from harassment and everyone has access to high quality services. This 

Strategic Equality Plan will help us to ensure that we focus on positive outcomes for people 

in Merthyr Tydfil. 

Building on the Strategic Equality Plan 2016-2020, we will continue to promote equality and 

diversity and share ideas and good practice with partners and other service providers. We will 

continue to refine and develop our services, including respective monitoring systems, to help 

us gain a better understanding of our staff and the wider local communities and the diverse 

needs of our communities.  

We will continue to work towards achieving our vision through our role as community leader, 

service provider, commissioner and employer, and we will work in partnership in any way we 

can to improve the well-being of the County Borough. 

The activities in the Action Plan clearly show our strong commitment to eliminate all forms of 

discrimination and promote equal opportunities and good relations between people visiting, 

living and working in Merthyr Tydfil. 

We are strongly committed to ensuring that the principles of equality and diversity are 

demonstrated in all aspects of how we deliver services and within our working practices. 

    

Councillor Kevin O’Neill  Ellis Cooper 

Leader of the Council and  Chief Executive 
Equalities Champion       

Our Equalities Vision for Merthyr Tydfil is: 

“A place where diversity is valued and respected and everyone can participate, flourish 

and have the opportunity to fulfil their potential free from discrimination and 

prejudice.” 

WELCOME TO MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH 

COUNCIL’S STRATEGIC EQUALITY PLAN 2020-2024 

Page 45



Page 4 of 23 

      

         MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL - STRATEGIC EQUALITY PLAN 2020-2024 

Merthyr Tydfil is situated in the Heads of the Valleys Region with an area of around 11,100 

hectares. Approximately one fifth of the County Borough lies within the Brecon Beacons 

National Park to the north, leaving some 8,675 hectares of land under the planning control 

of the County Borough Council. 

Merthyr Tydfil has a population of 60,183. The main town comprises of commercial, retail and 

a service centre of the County Borough with retail parks located in Cyfarthfa and Pentrebach. 

There is a hospital and other higher order services and facilities which serve surrounding 

settlements.  

Merthyr Tydfil fulfils a key strategic role at the centre of the Heads of the Valleys region, 

benefiting from high levels of accessibility through its location at the intersection of the A470 

(T) and A465 (T) strategic transport corridors in the north, and the A470 (T) and A472 strategic 

transport corridors in the south. The County Borough lies just 25 minutes north of Cardiff and 

the M4 corridor. 

The Council operates a Leader and Cabinet executive. This consists of the Leader and five 

Cabinet members. The Council has eleven electoral divisions which are represented by thirty 

three Elected Councillors. The Council has a Corporate Management Team (CMT), consisting 

of the Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive, Chief Officers, Monitoring Officer, Chief 

Finance Officer and Heads of Services within the Corporate Centre. The CMT oversee the 

strategic management of the Council’s business.  

The Local Authority is the biggest employer in the County Borough which currently has 

approximately 2,300 members of staff. They are employed into a variety of different roles 

within five service areas as listed below, plus School’s based staff.  

The five Council service areas are: 

 Corporate Services 

 Best Start to Life 

 Working Life 

 Environmental Wellbeing 

 Living Well 
 

There are two main Council buildings within the County Borough. One is within the main town 

centre (Civic Centre) and the other is situated in Pentrebach (Unit 5). Both are used as central 

locations for services within the County Borough. 

The Council has a shared vision with Partners from across the County Borough and aligns to 

our regional objectives for Cwm Taf. Our vision and values are an integral part of how we 

work and deliver services. 

 

ABOUT US 

Page 46



Page 5 of 23 

      

         MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL - STRATEGIC EQUALITY PLAN 2020-2024 

Our shared vision for Merthyr Tydfil is; 

“to strengthen Merthyr Tydfil’s position as the regional centre for the Heads of the Valleys, 

and be a place to be proud of where; 

 People learn and develop skills to fulfil their ambitions 
 People live, work, have a safe, healthy and fulfilled like, 
 People visit, enjoy and return” 

 
The Council has adopted a set of core values and associated behaviours, which are; 

 Honesty & Openness 

 Trust & Respect 

 Accountability 

 Learning 

 Aspiration 

 Team Working 

 Communication 
 

How will we work together to deliver our shared vision and achieve our goals? 

The Council has developed four objectives that form the focus of the Council’s Corporate Plan. 

These are outlined in the table below: 

 

FOCUS ON THE FUTURE – Our Corporate Plan 

BEST START TO LIFE Children and young people have the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and 
confident individuals. 

WORKING LIFE People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the 
needs of businesses with a developing, safe infrastructure making 
Merthyr Tydfil as an attractive destination. 

ENVIRONMENTAL 
WELLBEING 

Communities protect, enhance and promote our environment and 
countryside. 

LIVING WELL People are empowered to live independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and 
mental health. 

 

The Strategic Equality Plan links to a number of other key strategies, plans, policies, 

frameworks and legislation, within the Council and Wales-wide. Some examples (but not 

exhaustive) are;  

OUR VISION, VALUES AND OBJECTIVES 

Page 47



Page 6 of 23 

      

         MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL - STRATEGIC EQUALITY PLAN 2020-2024 

 Focus on the Future 2017-2022 
 Building a Healthy organisation Plan 2020-2023 
 The Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
 Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 
 The Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (Wales) Act 2015.  
 Welsh Language Standards (introduced under the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 

2011) 
 More Than Words: Welsh Government Welsh Language Strategy 
 Cymraeg 2050 (1 million Welsh speakers by 2050) 

 

The diagram below gives a summary of the Council’s Shared Vision in the context of the Well-

Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 together with regional objectives and local 

political priorities. 

 

 

 

 

Page 48



Page 7 of 23 

      

         MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL - STRATEGIC EQUALITY PLAN 2020-2024 

The Strategic Equality Plan 2020-2024 has been developed to reflect our commitment to 

equality in the County Borough of Merthyr Tydfil and to ensure we are meeting our statutory 

obligations as found within the Equality Act 2010. This plan replaces the Strategic Equality 

Plan 2016-2020 which was approved in March 2016. It highlights links to legislation and 

regulations covering Welsh Language Standards and Well-Being of Future Generations 

(Wales) Act 2015 and responsibilities under the Public Sector Equality Duty. 

This continues the work the Council is doing and promotes our commitment to ensuring that 

we have inclusive communities free from discrimination.  

It is against the law to discriminate against someone because of their protected characteristic. 

There are nine protected characteristics listed under the Equality Act 2010: 

 

 

 

 

The Equality Act 2010 brings together and replaces the previous anti-discrimination laws with 

a single Act. It simplifies and strengthens the law, removes inconsistences and makes it easier 

for people to understand and comply with it. The Act includes a Public Sector Equality Duty 

(PSED) replacing the separate duties on race, disability and gender equality.  

The General Duty 

The aim of the general duty is to ensure that public authorities and those carrying out a public 

function consider how they can positively contribute to a fairer society through advancing 

equality and good relations in their day-to-day activities. The duty ensures that equality 

PURPOSE OF THE STRATEGIC EQUALITY 

PLAN 2020-2024 

EQUALITY ACT 2010, PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY (PSED) AND 

PROTECTED CHARACTERISTICS 

AGE DISABILITY PREGNANCY AND 

MATERNITY 

GENDER 

REASSIGNMENT RELIGION OR 

BELIEF 

RACE 

SEX 

(GENDER) 
SEXUAL 

ORIENTATION 

MARRIAGE AND CIVIL 

PARTNERSHIP 

Page 49



Page 8 of 23 

      

         MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL - STRATEGIC EQUALITY PLAN 2020-2024 

considerations are built into the design of policies and the delivery of services and that they 

are kept under review. This will achieve better outcomes for all.  

When making decisions and delivering services we must have due regard to the need to: 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 
that is prohibited by the Equality Act 2010 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who do not 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those 
who do not 
 

In advancing equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic 

and those who don’t we must also ensure that we: 

 Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and are connected to that characteristic.  

 Encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to participate in 
public life or in any other activity in which participation is disproportionately low. 

 Meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected characteristic that are 
different from the needs of persons who do not share it. 

 

The Specific Duties 

In Wales we have specific statutory duties placed upon us which set out what actions the 

Council must take to comply. The broad purpose of the specific duties in Wales is to help listed 

bodies in their performance of the general duty and to aid transparency. These were 

published by Welsh Government in April 2011 and  cover the following: 

 

What the duty requires on Equality Objectives  

A listed body in Wales must:    

 Publish objectives to meet the general duty. 
 Publish a statement setting out the steps it has taken or intends to take to meet the 

objectives and how long it expects to take to meet each objective.  
 Make appropriate arrangements to monitor progress towards meeting its objectives 

and to monitor the effectiveness of its approach.  
 Give appropriate consideration to relevant equality information it holds when 

considering what its equality objectives should be.  
  

Objectives Assessing impact Strategic Equality Plans 

Equality information Engagement Annual reporting 

Review Employment information Accessibility 

Pay differences Publishing Staff training 

Welsh Ministers’ reporting Procurement  

Page 50



Page 9 of 23 

      

         MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL - STRATEGIC EQUALITY PLAN 2020-2024 

Objectives on pay difference   

 A listed body in Wales must:   

 Have due regard to the need to have objectives to address the causes of any pay 
differences that seem reasonably likely to be related to any of the protected 
characteristics. 

 Publish an equality objective to address any gender pay gap identified or else publish 
reasons why it has not done so.   

 

We are committed to ensure the Well-Being of 

Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 is embedded 

into working practices and service delivery. 

We must maximise our contribution to the seven 

national Well-being goals. In all of our work, we 

need to incorporate these goals into all of our 

work ensuring that they are considered when 

decisions are being made.  

We must ‘act in a manner which seeks to ensure 

that the needs of the present are met without 

compromising the ability of future generations to 

meet their own needs’. 

The Act also asks us to apply the five ways of 

working in our work; 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS (WALES) ACT 2015 

Page 51



Page 10 of 23 

      

         MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL - STRATEGIC EQUALITY PLAN 2020-2024 

These principles have been used to guide the development of our Equality Objectives and the 

actions we will take to deliver each objective. 

The assessment of the five ways of working is included within the Council’s Integrated Impact 

Assessment, which also includes assessment of the Well-Being objectives, protected 

characteristics and biodiversity. All decisions made by the Council are assessed against the 

nine protected characteristics. 

External reports undertaken by the Equality and Human Rights Commission have supported 

and influenced the development of our equality objectives. 

This report identified a number of key equality and human rights challenges for Wales. It 

looked at 7 key challenges; 

 Close attainment gaps in education. 

 Encourage fair recruitment, development and reward in employment. 

 Improve living conditions in cohesive communities. 

 Increase access to justice and encourage democratic participation. 

 Improve access to mental health services and support people 
experiencing poor mental health. 

 Prevent abuse, neglect and ill-treatment in care and detention. 

 Eliminate violence, abuse and harassment in the community. 
 

According to the report, the challenges will require substantial efforts of public, private and 

third sector organisations and of individuals to reduce them.  

This report provides a complete picture of people’s life chances in Wales. It looks across all 

areas of life, including, 

 Education 
 Work 
 Living standards 
 Health 
 Justice and security 
 Participation in society 

 
It identifies a wide range of recommendations to address the key 

equality and human rights challenges in Wales. It identifies that some progress has been made 

but there is more work to be done. 

IS WALES FAIRER? 2015 – EQUALITY AND HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION 

IS WALES FAIRER? 2018 – EQUALITY AND HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION 

Page 52



Page 11 of 23 

      

         MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL - STRATEGIC EQUALITY PLAN 2020-2024 

The key focus of the Equality and Human Rights Commission will be socio-economic 

disadvantage, disability, gender and race. 

The objectives have been developed to align with the findings from both Is Wales Fairer? 2015 

and Is Wales Fairer? 2018. 

The Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 replaced the Welsh Language Act 1993 and 

placed an obligation on public sector bodies to comply with Welsh Language Standards. 

Essentially, the Measure has the same requirement as the Welsh Language Act. 

 

Public bodies must comply with a set of national Welsh Language Standards. These were 

issued to the Council by the Welsh Language Commissioner via a compliance notice. There 

are 176 standards and the compliance notice sets out which standards apply to the Council, 

along with any exemptions and expected implementation dates. 

The standards are split into four themes: 

 Service Delivery 
 Operational 
 Record Keeping 
 Policy Making 

 
Welsh Language is not covered by the Equality Act 2010 but Equality and Welsh Language 

policy agendas complement and inform each other. Welsh Language is also included within 

the goals in the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 – A Wales of vibrant 

culture and thriving Welsh Language. 

Welsh Language is a key element of the Council’s Equality agenda. The Council promotes and 

facilitate the use of the Welsh Language by observing the following guiding principles: 

 Individuals have the right to deal with us in Welsh 
 Welsh must be positioned to be read first (to the left or above the English) 
 Language rights for staff 
 The quality of service and a positive attitude are important 
 We must offer Welsh Language services to give language choice. 

 

 

WELSH LANGUAGE (WALES) MEASURE 2011 

We must treat the Welsh and English languages on 

the basis of equality in the provision of services to the 

public in Wales. 

 

Page 53



Page 12 of 23 

      

         MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL - STRATEGIC EQUALITY PLAN 2020-2024 

In developing our equality objectives we have engaged with our communities and workforce. 

We have also used relevant information to inform our objectives including looking forward to 

consider potential future changes that we need to consider in assessing impact. 

Welsh Government are currently consulting on commencing the socio-economic duty in 

Wales. Our approach to discharging this duty will be informed by developments at a national 

level. We will ensure that this is included within our working practices in reducing inequalities 

of outcome that result from socio-economic disadvantage. 

We want to ensure we are making progress in advancing equality and inclusion for all 

protected characteristic groups and the objectives will assist us in continuing to do this.  

The themes and objectives that we have included in this plan are identified in the table below: 

THEME OBJECTIVE 
Inclusive Engagement 
and Participation 

Engage with our Citizens to participate and have their voices 
heard to understand and respond to the needs of our 
communities. 

Community Cohesion Promote and facilitate inclusive, safe and cohesive 
communities. 

Inclusive and Diverse 
Workforce 

Create an inclusive and diverse workforce, which reflects the 
communities in Merthyr Tydfil. 

Gender/Equal Pay Ensure equity of pay across Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council. 

Accessible Services Understand and remove the barriers people face when 
accessing our services 

 

The theme ‘Accessible Services’ was included following the consultation as accessibility was 

raised in the consultation responses. We have listened to our workforce and the community 

and included this additional objective. We have also ensured that we integrate and include 

actions relating to the Welsh Language.  

 

 

 

 

OUR EQUALITY OBJECTIVES FOR 2020-

2024 

Page 54



Page 13 of 23 

      

         MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL - STRATEGIC EQUALITY PLAN 2020-2024 

THEME: INCLUSIVE ENGAGEMENT AND PARTICIPATION 

OBJECTIVE: ENGAGE WITH OUR CITIZENS TO PARTICIPATE AND HAVE THEIR VOICES 
HEARD TO UNDERSTAND AND RESPOND TO THE NEEDS OF OUR COMMUNITIES. 

Community engagement, inclusion and participation is vital to the Council in achieving 
positive change for the community. Without knowing more about the people that make 
up the communities in Merthyr Tydfil we are unable to identify specific issues or barriers 
that may prevent them accessing our services or engaging with the Council when they 
need to. A clear understanding of who lives within the local area is essential in providing 
services to the public.  
 
Involving residents in decision-making creates strong communities. Some protected 
groups face significant barriers on a daily basis which can affect their participation in 
community life and when accessing services. By understanding these barriers, we are able 
to provide better services to our citizens. Engagement is not only a key means of 
improving services, but also a statutory responsibility in relation to Equality, as set out in 
the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED). 
 
Ensuring that information is available in a variety of formats is vital in ensuring that all 
citizens are able to participate in engagement exercises. Even though more access is 
available digitally, there continues to be barriers that prevent citizens from engaging. 
Meaningful discussions are important to help us identify what matters most to people, 
which can enable us to be better informed when making decisions. 
 
We want to do more to engage and support groups which are not represented. Consulting 
with key stakeholders in a variety of different formats and methods, and ensuring that 
engagement starts with sufficient time to involve more people to improve communication 
and ensure everyone has a voice. We want to improve the collection of data and our 
equality monitoring questions when consulting with our communities, providing 
information in easily readable formats using plain language.  
 
We want to work towards attainment of Insport Gold standard. The successful attainment 
of insport Gold standard will ensure the Council, and its key partners, place service users 
at the centre of the development of sport and physical activity opportunities for disabled 
people in Merthyr Tydfil, with actions being a direct response of engagement and 
consultation. The insport Gold Standard will evidence how service users have been 
engaged and how the Council and its partners have taken a collaborative approach to 
meet this need. 
 
We asked staff to complete a culture survey in 2019. The feedback has been analysed and 
is in the process of being developed into an Action Plan which will fit within the ‘Building a 
Healthy Organisation’ plan 2020-2023. We want to identify any areas for improvement 
that have been raised by our staff relating to protected characteristics. 

Relevant Protected 
Characteristics (including 
Welsh Language) 

Themes in Is Wales Fairer? 
2018 

Link to Well-Being Goals 

Age, Disability, Gender 
Reassignment, Marriage 

Education, Work, Living 
Standards, Health, Justice 

A healthier Wales, A more 
equal Wales, A Wales of 

Page 55



Page 14 of 23 

      

         MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL - STRATEGIC EQUALITY PLAN 2020-2024 

and Civil Partnership, 
Pregnancy and Maternity, 
Race, Religion or Belief, Sex, 
Sexual Orientation, Welsh 
Language. 

and Personal, Security, 
Participation. 

cohesive communities, A 
Wales of vibrant culture and 
thriving Welsh language 

Actions 

Regularly review and update the list of key stakeholder groups within the County Borough 
to ensure representation from protected characteristic groups. 

Review and re-establish citizens panel and staff forum. 

Implement a Communication and Consultation Strategy and embed this into all 
consultation exercises undertaken in the Council. 

Strengthen internal processes to improve the detail contained within Integrated Impact 
Assessments and timeliness of completion. 

Continue to provide advice and guidance, ensuring correct signposting. 

As part of our ‘Building a Healthy Organisation plan’, frequently engage with staff and 
analyse the responses from the culture survey to determine issues and areas for 
improvement in relation to the protected characteristics. 

Promote the availability of bilingual services by ensuring Welsh speakers and learners 
within service areas wear appropriate lanyards/badges. 

Work towards the achievement of Disability Sport Wales insport Gold Standard. 
 

 

THEME: COMMUNITY COHESION 

OBJECTIVE: PROMOTE AND FACILITATE INCLUSIVE, SAFE AND COHESIVE COMMUNITIES. 

Merthyr Tydfil has a proud and rich history of being a diverse and welcoming community. 
However, with this comes a possible increase of hate crime and extremism. Hate crimes 
and incidents have a damaging and corrosive impact upon community cohesion, which 
can in turn, increase community tensions and create a sense of intolerance. 
 
Community cohesion is strongly connected to work on equalities. A more equal society 
creates the foundation stone that enables different groups to interact on an equal 
footing. 
 
We recognise that under reporting of hate crime still needs to be addressed. We need to 
raise awareness of what a hate crime is and ensure the public know how and where to 
report hate crime. A more equal society creates the foundation stone that enables 
different groups to interact on an equal footing.  
 
Community cohesion is essential in all communities to enable different groups of people 
to get on together and enables a sense of belonging. This enables people to feel safer and 
more secure in their communities. A community where people have increased contact 
and are able to forge greater relationships with others increases understanding of 
different cultures.  
 

Page 56



Page 15 of 23 

      

         MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL - STRATEGIC EQUALITY PLAN 2020-2024 

We want to ensure the public and the workforce know how and where to report hate 
crime and that victims of hate crime understand and are supported to access the support 
available to them. 
 
We want to provide training to those within the workforce who work closely with the 
public to be able to recognise hate crimes and be able to confidently report it. 
 
We want to continue to work with our communities, celebrate diversity and bring people 
together to promote positive community cohesion. We also want to continue to network 
with other stakeholders, collaborate and strengthen links. 

Relevant Protected 
Characteristics (including 
Welsh Language) 

Themes in Is Wales Fairer? 
2018 

Link to Well-Being Goals 

Age, Disability, Gender 
Reassignment, Marriage 
and Civil Partnership, 
Pregnancy and Maternity, 
Race, Religion or Belief, Sex, 
Sexual Orientation. 

Education, Work, Living 
Standards, Health, Justice 
and Personal Security, 
Participation. 

A more equal Wales, A 
Wales of cohesive 
communities, A healthier 
Wales 

Actions 

Raise awareness of hate crime and increase reporting in the County Borough. 

Undertake community-mapping exercises. 

Hold community events, promote positive community cohesion and celebrate diversity. 

Ensure victims of hate crime have awareness of the support services available to them. 

Continue to work collaboratively wherever possible and strengthen links through 
networking. 

Implement an Equality Champion project within Schools, youth forums and with 
volunteers. 

Ensure training is undertaken on protected characteristic groups for staff and councillors. 

 

 

THEME: INCLUSIVE AND DIVERSE WORKFORCE 

OBJECTIVE: CREATE AN INCLUSIVE AND DIVERSE WORKFORCE, WHICH REFLECTS THE 
COMMUNITIES IN MERTHYR TYDFIL. 

Nationally there is a need to ensure understanding of requirements to collect and use 
employment information on all protected characteristics. Also nationally, IT systems or 
alternative solutions need to support the collection, recording and use of required 
employment information.  
 
We want employees to feel safe in the environment they work and to be themselves.  The 
mantra of Stonewall Cymru is that ‘people perform better when they can be themselves’. 
We want to get the best out of our employees. We want a workforce that feels safe and 
confident to provide information about themselves and a culture that is safe and 
inclusive. We need to know more about the diversity of our workforce. We need to 

Page 57



Page 16 of 23 

      

         MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL - STRATEGIC EQUALITY PLAN 2020-2024 

undertake more workplace equality monitoring to know what we need to do to improve 
services, involving people in the heart of it.  
 
We are a Disability Confident employer. However, we want to do more to raise awareness 
about what support is available to those with protected characteristics, at recruitment 
but also throughout the workplace journey.  
 
We want to raise awareness of the Welsh Language and Welsh Language Standards, 
providing training and targeting new job opportunities to Welsh Speakers.  
 
As a part of our ‘Building a Healthy Organisation Plan 2020-2023; we want to ensure any 
issues raised relating to protected characteristics are identified and actions are 
developed. 

Relevant Protected 
Characteristics (including 
Welsh Language) 

Themes in Is Wales Fairer? 
2018 

Link to Well-Being Goals 

Age, Disability, Gender 
Reassignment, Marriage 
and Civil Partnership, 
Pregnancy and Maternity, 
Race, Religion or Belief, Sex, 
Sexual Orientation, Welsh 
Language. 

Education, Work, Living 
Standards, Health, Justice 
and Personal Security, 
Participation. 

A healthier Wales, A more 
equal Wales, A Wales of 
cohesive communities, A 
Wales of vibrant culture and 
thriving Welsh language. 

Actions 

Support and facilitate Equalities training and learning opportunities so that Equalities is 
recognised and incorporated into roles. 

Work collaboratively to support Pride events through the brand ‘Proud Councils’. 

Improve the monitoring and collection of data for the workforce and reinforce the 
importance of recording customer/employee equality data. 

Monitor and report the number of staff who have completed the Equalities Monitoring 
Form through HR21. 

Undertake a data cleansing exercise in relation to the settlement status of our employees. 

As part of our ‘Building a Healthy Organisation plan’ and analysis of the culture survey 
responses, develop specific actions that relate to protected characteristics. 

Develop and implement eLearning on harassment in the workplace to all staff. 

Raise awareness amongst staff that come into contact with children and young 
people of the need to foster positive attitudes towards the Welsh language. 

Ensure Welsh Language training is available to staff. 

Target new job opportunities at Welsh Speakers. 

Review how we collect our workforce data. 
 

 

Page 58



Page 17 of 23 

      

         MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL - STRATEGIC EQUALITY PLAN 2020-2024 

THEME: GENDER / EQUAL PAY 

OBJECTIVE: ENSURE EQUITY OF PAY ACROSS MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH 
COUNCIL. 

As a Council we are required to consider any pay differences that exist across the Council 
and to identify an objective that will address any difference identified. Nationally whilst 
pay systems are important in determining pay equity, there are a number of other issues 
that are relevant in determining what women and men are paid.  
 
These include occupational segregation; availability of full/parttime work in different 
occupational groups, e.g. lower paid job roles being mainly parttime whilst higher paid 
more senior roles being mainly full time; availability of family friendly policies and support 
and organisational culture. 
 
The Council publishes an Annual Pay Policy Statement. All jobs are evaluated using the 
Greater London Provincial Council scheme of Job Evaluation (with the exception of Heads 
of Service who are processed via the HAY Scheme). No personal information regarding the 
post holder is taken into account at this stage. As a result, the grading system is free of 
any unconscious bias. The grades and additional payment mechanisms in operation at the 
Council are provided on a gender neutral basis. Therefore, there are no obvious 
discrepancies between gender during the reporting. 
 
Reporting on this helps us to understand the size and causes of any gender pay gaps and 
any issues that need to be addressed. 
 
We want to ensure our data accurately reflects our workforce and continue to meet our 
statutory duties of reporting on our equality monitoring information.  
 
We also want to raise more awareness of the flexible working policy and any other 
policies which can assist in promoting different working to suit the different needs of our 
workforce. 

Relevant Protected 
Characteristics (including 
Welsh Language) 

Themes in Is Wales Fairer? 
2018 

Link to Well-Being Goals 

Age, Marriage and Civil 
Partnership, Pregnancy and 
Maternity, Sex. 

Education, Work, Living 
Standards, Health, Justice 
and Personal Security, 
Participation. 

A prosperous Wales, A more 
equal Wales, A healthier 
Wales. 

Actions 

Ensure workplace data is up to date and regularly review this data to determine actions to 
meet any duties placed upon us. 

Where necessary, make changes to policies and practices that are found to be a 
contributory factor to any identified inequality in pay. 

Continue to publish Annual Pay Policy Statement in line with the Equality Act 2010. 

Review HR policies and raise awareness of opportunities such as flexible working, part 
time work, job sharing etc. 

 

Page 59



Page 18 of 23 

      

         MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL - STRATEGIC EQUALITY PLAN 2020-2024 

 

THEME: ACCESSIBLE SERVICES 

OBJECTIVE: UNDERSTAND AND REMOVE THE BARRIERS PEOPLE FACE WHEN ACCESSING 
OUR SERVICES. 

Barriers experienced by groups and individuals may include physical access to buildings, 
access to information in appropriate formats to suit their needs, transport, 
unemployment, mental health difficulties, access to technology etc. 
 
We want to: 

 Find out more about how people access our services to ensure that the services we 
offer and how we offer our services reflect the diversity of our community.  

 

 Raise awareness and improve our understanding of the issues people face when 
accessing our services to remove barriers. Effective engagement and monitoring of 
information will assist in informing us of the accessibility of services to our customers.  

 

 Empower groups with protected characteristics to be able to access the services 
offered by the Council. More services are being accessed digitally which allows citizens 
to be more engaged and allows us to reach more people. We need to consider 
mechanisms for reaching all members of the community. Ensuring that there is clear 
signage, lighting, readable formats for service users ensuring that physical access and 
digital access is appropriate. 

Relevant Protected 
Characteristics (including 
Welsh Language) 

Themes in Is Wales Fairer? 
2018 

Link to Well-Being Goals 

Age, Disability, Gender 
Reassignment, Marriage 
and Civil Partnership, Race, 
Religion or Belief, Sex, 
Sexual Orientation, Welsh 
Language. 

Education, Work, Living 
Standards, Health, Justice 
and Personal Security, 
Participation. 

A healthier Wales, A more 
equal Wales, A Wales of 
cohesive communities, A 
Wales of vibrant culture and 
thriving Welsh language. 

Actions 

Continue to make more services available digitally and promote the use of technology 
when accessing our services. 

Ensure the Council’s website is fully bilingual and pages are monitored and updated in 
both languages on a rolling programme basis. 

Ensure the Council’s website is up to date and contains relevant information in a readable 
format. 

Give people the opportunity to have documents in readable formats; ‘in plain language’. 

Ensure the Council’s website and intranet is accessible so that people with disabilities can 
engage. 

Ensure training is provided to staff who deal with customers on providing accessible 
services to people with disabilities. 

 

 

Page 60



Page 19 of 23 

      

         MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL - STRATEGIC EQUALITY PLAN 2020-2024 

We undertook a 12-week consultation with the public and workforce. An on-line survey was 

available to complete, emails were sent to staff and community groups that reflect the 

protected characteristics contained within the Equality Act 2010, with updates being posted 

on social media channels. We have also met with the Senior Management Team within the 

Council and Managers who will be delivering the actions within the action plan. 

The purpose of the consultation was to ensure we meet our duties to review our equality 

objectives and to engage with protected characteristic groups in doing so. 

We asked people to consider the following when answering the questions; 

 What challenges are people with protected characteristics facing within the County 
Borough of Merthyr Tydfil? 

 Do the objectives adequately address these challenges? 
 What more could we do to improve? 

 

WHAT FEEDBACK DID WE RECEIVE FROM THE CONSULTATION?  

 We should engage and involve people in the community more, ensuring that we 
reflect the demographic make up and proportions of the area. We should also engage 
with people at the earliest time, before decisions are made, and consider the timing 
of focus groups to cater for those who work.  

 We should lead by example and ensure we have an inclusive and diverse workforce so 
that it is reflected in the wider community. Also, to talk more openly about what it 
means to have inclusive, safe and cohesive communities. 

 More staff awareness and training about protected characteristics and education to 
staff on various issues. Positive education about people with mental and physical 
disabilities. 

 Ensure how we monitor information allows everyone to be represented. Information 
should be accessible to all. 

 Promote opportunities for more flexible working. Give more people opportunities to 
apply for jobs within the Council by making them external as well as internal. 

 Remove barriers and ensure equality of opportunity for all. 
 Consider reviewing policies and procedures to address any issues or challenges 

identified. 
 Ensure that services are accessible to all people with disabilities and consider 

providing gender neutral facilities. Also consider updating relevant monitoring forms 
to reflect other genders.  

 There should be equity in pay between men and women in the Council. Ensuring that 
women and men get the same opportunity in the workplace, regardless of protected 
characteristics. 
 

We have used this information to inform our objectives and actions within the plan. 

DEVELOPING THE OBJECTIVES 

Page 61



Page 20 of 23 

      

         MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL - STRATEGIC EQUALITY PLAN 2020-2024 

 

The equality objectives will be monitored and delivered through the action plan. The Council 

will publish an Annual Equality Report providing information on; 

 Delivery of the Strategic Equality Plan 
 Progress on the objectives and actions 
 Employment monitoring information 

 
The plan will be reviewed annually to ensure that actions are SMART (Specific, Measurable, 

Achievable, Realistic, Time-Bound), and fit for purpose and that new legislation/guidance is 

factored into the plan. This will ensure that we are continuously improving. 

We welcome comments on the plan and if you want to know more about the work the Council 

is doing please use the contact details below: 

 
Equalities 
Civic Centre 
Castle Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8AN 
Tel: 01685 725000 
equality@merthyr.gov.uk 
 
The plan is available in other formats upon request. To make a request please use the contact 

details above.

DELIVERING, MONITORING AND 

REVIEWING THE PLAN 

FURTHER INFORMATION 

Page 62

mailto:equality@merthyr.gov.uk


Page 21 of 23 

      

         MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL - STRATEGIC EQUALITY PLAN 2020-2024 

 

THEME: INCLUSIVE ENGAGEMENT AND PARTICIPATION 
OBJECTIVE: ENGAGE WITH OUR CITIZENS TO PARTICIPATE AND HAVE THEIR VOICES 
HEARD TO UNDERSTAND AND RESPOND TO THE NEEDS OF OUR COMMUNITIES. 

A
C

TI
O

N
S 

Regularly review and update the list of key stakeholder groups within the County 
Borough to ensure representation from protected characteristic groups. 
Review and re-establish citizens panel and staff forum. 
Implement a Communication and Consultation Strategy and embed this into all 
consultation exercises undertaken in the Council. 
Strengthen internal processes to improve the detail contained within Integrated 
Impact Assessments and timeliness of completion. 
Continue to provide advice and guidance, ensuring correct signposting. 

As part of our ‘Building a Healthy Organisation plan’, frequently engage with staff and 
analyse the responses from the culture survey to determine issues and areas for 
improvement in relation to the protected characteristics. 

Promote the availability of bilingual services by ensuring Welsh speakers and learners 
within service areas wear appropriate lanyards/badges. 
Work towards the achievement of Disability Sport Wales insport Gold Standard. 

 

 

THEME: COMMUNITY COHESION 
OBJECTIVE: PROMOTE AND FACILITATE INCLUSIVE, SAFE AND COHESIVE COMMUNITIES. 

A
C

TI
O

N
S 

Raise awareness of hate crime and increase reporting in the County Borough. 
Undertake community-mapping exercises. 
Hold community events, promote positive community cohesion and celebrate 
diversity. 

Ensure victims of hate crime have awareness of the support services available to 
them. 
Continue to work collaboratively wherever possible and strengthen links through 
networking. 

Implement an Equality Champion project within Schools, youth forums and with 
volunteers. 
Ensure training is undertaken on protected characteristic groups for staff and 
councillors. 

 

 

SUMMARY OF OBJECTIVES AND 

ACTIONS 

Page 63



Page 22 of 23 

      

         MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL - STRATEGIC EQUALITY PLAN 2020-2024 

 

 

THEME: INCLUSIVE AND DIVERSE WORKFORCE 
OBJECTIVE: CREATE AN INCLUSIVE AND DIVERSE WORKFORCE, WHICH REFLECTS THE 
COMMUNITIES IN MERTHYR TYDFIL. 

A
C

TI
O

N
S 

Support and facilitate Equalities training and learning opportunities so that Equalities 
is recognised and incorporated into roles. 
Work collaboratively to support Pride events through the brand ‘Proud Councils’. 
Improve the monitoring and collection of data for the workforce and reinforce the 
importance of recording customer/employee equality data. 
Monitor and report the number of staff who have completed the Equalities 
Monitoring Form through HR21. 
Undertake a data cleansing exercise in relation to the settlement status of our 
employees. 
As part of our ‘Building a Healthy Organisation plan’ and analysis of the culture survey 
responses, develop specific actions that relate to protected characteristics. 
Develop and implement eLearning on harassment in the workplace to all staff. 
Raise awareness amongst staff that come into contact with children and young 
people of the need to foster positive attitudes towards the Welsh language. 
Ensure Welsh Language training is available to staff. 
Target new job opportunities at Welsh Speakers. 

Review how we collect our workforce data. 
 

 

THEME: GENDER / EQUAL PAY 
OBJECTIVE: ENSURE EQUITY OF PAY ACROSS MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH 
COUNCIL. 

A
C

TI
O

N
S 

Ensure workplace data is up to date and regularly review this data to determine 
actions to meet any duties placed upon us. 
Where necessary, make changes to policies and practices that are found to be a 
contributory factor to any identified inequality in pay. 
Continue to publish Annual Pay Policy Statement in line with the Equality Act 2010. 
Review HR policies and raise awareness of opportunities such as flexible working, part 
time work, job sharing etc. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 64



Page 23 of 23 

      

         MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL - STRATEGIC EQUALITY PLAN 2020-2024 

THEME: ACCESSIBLE SERVICES 
OBJECTIVE: UNDERSTAND AND REMOVE THE BARRIERS PEOPLE FACE WHEN ACCESSING 
OUR SERVICES. 

A
C

TI
O

N
S 

Continue to make more services available digitally and promote the use of technology 
when accessing our services. 
Ensure the Council’s website is fully bilingual and pages are monitored and updated 
in both languages on a rolling programme basis. 
Ensure the Council’s website is up to date and contains relevant information in a 
readable format. 
Give people the opportunity to have documents in readable formats; ‘in plain 
language’. 
Ensure the Council’s website and intranet is accessible so that people with disabilities 
can engage. 

Ensure training is provided to staff who deal with customers on providing accessible 
services to people with disabilities. 

 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 
 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

ACTIVE TRAVEL FUND AND SAFE ROUTES IN 
COMMUNITIES FUND 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 In May 2018 the Cabinet Secretary for Finance announced significant funding being 

made available over three years to support Active Travel schemes as part of the 
Wales Infrastructure Investment Plan.  The funding will create new active travel 
routes across Wales, connecting people’s homes to schools, jobs and their local 
community with the aim of encouraging more people to walk or cycle. 

 
1.2 The report gives an update on the funding bids that have been submitted for Active 

Travel and Safe Routes in Communities Funds for 2020/21.  
 

2.0  RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 The submission of an application for £394,000 to the Active Travel Fund 2020/21 

and an application for £20,000 to the Safe Routes in Communities Fund 2020/21 be 
approved. 

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 In May 2018, the Cabinet Secretary for Finance announced significant funding being 

made available over three years to support active travel schemes as part of the 
Wales Infrastructure Investment Plan.  The funding will create new active travel 
routes across Wales, connecting people’s homes to schools, jobs and their local 
community with the aim of encouraging more people to walk or cycle.  In addition, 

Date Written March 2020 

Report Author Alun Evans/Chris Long  

Service Area Community Regeneration 

Committee Division Cabinet 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 25th March 2020 

Page 67

Agenda Item 3



the annual Safe Routes in Communities Fund is available to deliver walking and 
cycling infrastructure within local communities to make them safer and more 
attractive environments for active travel journeys. 

 
3.2  Only schemes that are identified on the relevant Integrated Network Map, submitted 

to Welsh Government, are being considered for funding and an internal officer group 
was established to identify the priority projects that could be delivered this financial 
year. 

 
3.3 As part of the £30M available in 2020/21 within the Welsh Government’s Active 

Travel Fund, a proportion is identified for each local authority as Core Active Travel 
Funding.  This can be expended on work such as the feasibility and detailed design 
of Active Travel routes, minor infrastructure improvements on the current walking 
and cycling network, and promotion and future consultation on the Integrated 
Network Map.  For MTCBC in 2020/21 this sum has been identified as a minimum of 
£200,000.  

 
3.4 In addition, initial feasibility work has been carried out in 2019/20 on the provision of 

an Active Travel route on the Trevithick trail along Tramroadside South, linking to the 
Rail Station.  To enable further development and design work to be undertaken, a 
bid for Active Travel funding has been submitted for 2020/21.  

 
3.5 With regard to Welsh Government’s Safe Routes in Communities programme, a 

funding bid has been submitted for initial work on walking and cycling access 
improvements to Trelewis Primary School. 

 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
4.1  MTCBC have submitted an application for £394,000 to the Active Travel Fund 

2020/21 and an application for £20,000 to the Safe Routes in Communities Fund 
2020/21. 

 

5.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
5.1 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

Page 68



3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
10 of 10 0 of 10 0 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

1 of 1 0 of 1 0 of 1 

Summary: 
The main positive impacts are increased walking and cycling routes that will have an 
improved impact on people’s health & well-being.  Further positive impacts on the 
environment as an increased volume of people would be encouraged to walk and cycle 
rather than driving. 
 
No negative impacts have been identified. 
 

 
 
ALYN OWEN 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS 
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION & PUBLIC 
PROTECTION 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 
 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

FORMAL APPROVAL OF A NEW FOUNDATION 
ECONOMY CHALLENGE FUND COMMUNITY 
MEANWHILE PROJECT 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The Community Meanwhile Project is funded by Welsh Government’s Foundational 

Economy Challenge Fund initiative.    
 
1.2 This report seeks to gain Cabinet's agreement to formally approve and accept a 

grant of £98,500 from the programme. 
 
1.3 The ethos of the project is for the Council to work with vacant building owners within 

specific communities in order to bring those facilities back into economic life via 
capital grants with the caveat being that the owner gives a new business start-up 
free rent over a certain period. 

 
1.4 The report focusses on the outputs and results of the project, noting the number of 

buildings that the Council wish to refurbish, number of jobs hopefully being created 
as well as volunteering opportunities advertised. 

 
1.5 From a financial perspective, the report covers the total project cost and references 

that the match will come from capital finance secured to develop a new coffee shop 
in Gurnos with the facility becoming one of our Community Meanwhile businesses. 

 
 

Date Written 10th March 2020 

Report Author Ryan Barry & Chris Long 

Service Area Community Regeneration 

Committee Division Cabinet 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 25th March 2020 

Page 71

Agenda Item 4



 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1  The £98,500 grant offer from Welsh Government be approved. 
 
2.2  The £100,000 match funding profile aligned to the project be approved. 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Over the last four years the Community Regeneration Department has successfully 

implemented a Meanwhile / Pop-up Scheme within Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre 
where over that period 21 businesses were successfully established amounting in 
52 jobs being created. 

 
3.2 The principles of Meanwhile / Pop-up relate to making use of empty or vacant 

buildings within specific areas where Community Regeneration staff work with 
building owners in order to offer an opportunity to finance the refurbishment of their 
building (bringing it back into economic use) with a caveat being that the owner gives 
an agreed period of time as free rent (usually between 3-6 months).   

 
3.3 The Community Regeneration Department has always envisaged rolling-out the 

Meanwhile scheme into the wider communities of Merthyr Tydfil if funding became 
available.  Fortunately, in May 2019, Welsh Government announced a call for 
organisations to apply for innovative projects under its Foundational Economy 
Challenge Fund programme to which the department submitted a £198,500 
application in July of that year. 

 
3.4 Subsequently, in October 2019 the Council were made aware that our Community 

Meanwhile application was successful and was later informed that the fund in itself 
was extremely competitive with over 300 applications submitted with only 53 projects 
obtaining formal approval. 

 

4.0 THE COMMUNITY MEANWHILE PROJECT SPECIFICS 
 
4.1 The successful Community Meanwhile Project consists of three specific pieces of 

work.  These are as follows: 
 

1. Research and analysis of the current businesses and empty buildings within each 
of the chosen community areas in order to ascertain current provision as well as 
potential opportunities. 
 

2. Roll-out ‘Meanwhile’ opportunities within those chosen community areas liaising 
with building owners, support agencies / stakeholders, community organisations 
and business (including social).  
  

3. Encourage ‘business to business’ (B2B) local supply chain development between 
those businesses that reside at MTEC, Orbit and Crownford House. 

 

Page 72



4.2 Initially, only six communities or zones were specified as part of the original 
application, however, the department have expanded the geographical remit of the 
project so that the following areas can now access the funding: 

 
 Gurnos; 
 High Street, Cefn Coed; 
 Bridge Street, Troedyrhiw; 
 Fox Street, Treharris; 
 Spring Street, Dowlais; 
 Aberfan; 
 Trefechan; 
 Bedlinog; and 
 Gellideg. 

 
4.3 The Community Meanwhile Project will see the Council working closely with Tydfil 

Training Consortium Ltd, Business in Focus and the Merthyr Tydfil Economic Growth 
Partnership which is made-up of key organisations such as the Job Centre, Merthyr 
Tydfil College and Careers Wales. 

 
4.4 As part of the £198,500 total finance allocated to the project there is an expectation 

that the Council will achieve the following results over the course of the next 
15 months: 

 

Output: No: 

New Community Meanwhile Businesses Developed 6-8 

New Community Meanwhile Jobs Created 8-16 

Empty Buildings Brought Back into Economic Use 4-6 

New Volunteering Opportunities Developed  6-8 

Community Meanwhile Evaluation Report Produced 1 

 
4.5 As part of the funding secured from Welsh Government the Council will also develop 
 a Community Meanwhile ‘Toolkit’ which other Local Authorities can use and learn 
 from in order to replicate the principles of the project in their own respective areas.  
 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 In total, the Community Meanwhile Project is worth £198,500 which is made-up of a 
 £98,500 grant from Welsh Government and £100,000 match funding that the Council 
 has secured to develop a coffee shop in Gurnos. 
 
5.2 From the £98,500 grant allocation £63,500 has been allocated for revenue to run the 
 project with the finance mainly being used for professional fees as well as pump-
 priming enterprise start-ups in terms of financing business rates and potential staff 
 costs.  The remaining £35,000 will be used for capital purposes in order to refurbish 
 the actual buildings, making them more economically viable. 
 
 
 

Page 73



6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
6.1 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
10 of 10 0 of 10 0 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

1 of 1 0 of 1 0 of 1 

Summary: 
 
The main positive impact of the Community Meanwhile Project is that community 
buildings will come back into economic use with opportunities given to local residents in 
terms of self-employment opportunities. 
 
No negative impacts have been identified. 
 

 
 
ALYN OWEN 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS 
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION & PUBLIC 
PROTECTION 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No  

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 

of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  
 

Page 74



 
Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 
 
 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

LOCAL TRANSPORT FUND: ULTRA LOW EMISSION 
VEHICLES & RESILIENT ROADS FUNDS  

 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The Welsh Government has provided two new funding streams within the Local 

Transport Fund.  Firstly, the Resilient Roads Fund will address disruptions caused by 
severe weather to the highway network, and improve the performance of the highway 
network through better journey reliability and journey times to encourage people to 
switch to sustainable transport.  Secondly, the Ultra Low Emission Vehicle (ULEV) 
Transformation Fund will be for the provision of charging infrastructure for taxi and 
private hire vehicles, electric vehicle charging hubs (focused on the seven Valleys 
Taskforce Strategic Hubs and other urban areas with potential to support a wide 
variety of electric vehicle charging needs) and the provision of Green Fleet. 

 
1.2 The Resilient Roads Fund will deliver schemes that improve infrastructure on key 

public transport links and cycle ways.  The long term benefits will see further 
confidence in public transport infrastructure, giving rise to an increase in commuters 
using the networks.  Better accessibility to cycle/walking routes will see an increase in 
commuters actively travelling to work places, schools etc.  

 
1.3 The ULEV Fund by providing charging infrastructure at taxi ranks, transport hubs and 

relevant public spaces will deliver the necessary infrastructure to satisfy the current 
and future energy demand for electric vehicles operated by the public transport and 
taxi service providers.  This will contribute to the goals identified in the current climate 
crisis and contribute towards the Cardiff Capital Regions KPIs of (i) 25,000 jobs; (ii) 
£4BN Private Sector Leverage; and (iii) Uplift in GVA (either direct or indirect).  

Date Written March 2020 

Report Author Alun Evans / Chris Long  

Service Area Community Regeneration 

Committee Division Cabinet 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 25th March 2020 

Page 75

Agenda Item 5



1.4 MTCBC has submitted an application for £535,000 for the Resilient Roads Fund 
2020/21 and an application, on behalf of the Cardiff Capital Region, for £6,502,299 for 
the Ultra Low Emission Vehicle Transformation Fund 2020/21. 

   

2.0 RECOMMENDATION that 
 
2.1 The new Local Transport Fund opportunities from the Welsh Government be noted 

and the submission for Resilient Roads and Ultra Low Vehicle Emission 
Transformation funds for 2020/21 be approved. 

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The Welsh Government has provided two new funding streams within the Local 

Transport Fund.  Firstly, the Resilient Roads Fund will address disruptions caused by 
severe weather to the highway network, and improve the performance of the highway 
network through better journey reliability and journey times to encourage people to 
switch to sustainable transport.  Secondly, the Ultra Low Emission Vehicle (ULEV) 
Transformation Fund will be for the provision of charging infrastructure for taxi and 
private hire vehicles, electric vehicle charging hubs (focused on the seven Valleys 
Taskforce Strategic Hubs and other urban areas with potential to support a wide 
variety of electric vehicle charging needs) and the provision of Green Fleet (please 
note that Council vehicle fleets are currently not eligible and the fund is targeted at taxi 
and public transport “fleets”). 

 
3.2 With regard to the Resilient Roads Fund, the bid submission for MTCBC will be for a 

variety of schemes for the sole purpose of ensuring critical highway infrastructure in 
the County Borough have increased resilience against the threat of flooding and the 
increased threat that climate change is likely to impose.  The schemes are intended 
to ensure that the people of Merthyr Tydfil enjoy a high standard quality of life by 
reducing the impact of climate change on transport links.  

 
3.3 The schemes will primarily address highway flooding issues across the County 

Borough.  In the short term, the introduction of the schemes will improve public 
transport links and cycle ways.  The long term benefits will see further confidence in 
public transport infrastructure giving rise to an increase in commuters using the 
networks.  Better accessibility to cycle/walking routes will see an increase in 
commuters actively travelling to work places, schools etc. 

 
3.4 If no action is taken and the schemes are not implemented we will see a reverse effect 

with less people using transport networks, drainage systems degrading further with 
the potential of catastrophic failure of critical infrastructure.  The Local Authority would 
then be further financially burdened needing to find revenue from already strained 
capital budgets.     

 
The highway drainage schemes will:      

 

 Reduce the impacts and frequency of surface water flooding to the highway 
network. 
 

Page 76



 

 Reduce road closures and subsequent high traffic volumes causing congestion and 
delays to local transport. 

 Where possible, the introduction of sustainable highway drainage systems will 
enhance the local landscape, improve water quality, amenity and biodiversity.  

 Improved quality of life for Merthyr Tydfil residents by reducing the potential impact 
of flooding in communities.  

 
3.5 The new Ultra Low Emission Vehicle Transformation Fund seeks to provide charging 

infrastructure at taxi ranks, transport hubs and relevant public spaces where it has 
been identified would be beneficial to taxis, private hire, community transport and bus 
operators.  A number of vehicle charging hub locations have been identified to cater 
for a wide variety of charging needs.  Also, a range of incentive processes will be 
reviewed for the take up of Battery Electric Vehicles for taxis, Private Hire, buses and 
community transport.  

 
3.6 The programme will contribute towards the Cardiff Capital Regions KPIs of (i) 25,000 

jobs; (ii) £4BN Private Sector Leverage; and (iii) Uplift in GVA (either direct or indirect).  
It will also help deliver the vision and objectives of the ‘Regional Industrial and 
Economic Plan’, including the four Grand Challenges of AI & Data Economy, Clean 
Growth, Ageing Society and Future of Mobility, including wider City Deal objectives 
eg. Digital, Skills, Energy etc.  

 
3.7 Finally, it will help the Welsh Government meet their goal of zero emissions from bus 

and taxi by 2028. 
 

4.0 SCHEME OUTPUTS  
 
4.1 The Council’s bid for Resilient Roads Fund for 2020/21 will maintain connectivity 

throughout the County Borough during periods of severe weather, and provide greater 
resilience of the highway network against surface water flooding caused by severe 
weather and climate change.  It will also reduce levels of traffic congestion along key 
transport corridors during severe weather that will address air quality issues due to 
vehicle emissions.  In addition, it will also improve walking and cycling networks in 
order to comply with active travel standards.  

 
4.2 The Council has submitted a bid to the Ultra Low Emission Vehicle Transformation 

Fund on behalf of the Cardiff Capital Region.  This includes:  
 

A Programme of Regional ULEV Taxi Events.  Engagement with the taxi trade is 
essential to get buy-in to proposals.  Events provide a platform for stakeholders to find 
out more about ULEVs and could include Q&As about vehicles and infrastructure, 
vehicle demonstrations and trials, case studies and opportunities for feedback.  Events 
can stimulate uptake by providing an opportunity for taxi drivers to gain exposure to 
ULEV options and to encourage discussion and take up. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 77



A Charge Point Network for the Cardiff Capital Region.  Plug-in vehicles require a 
charging network to enable long distance travel and to make them a viable option for 
those without off-street parking.  This is often seen as a “chicken and egg” problem, 
and by providing the infrastructure, it removes one of the barriers to adoption of 
ULEVs.  This activity includes mapping the existing infrastructure provision and 
understanding and providing additional infrastructure where it is required to meet the 
needs of additional ULEVs. 

 
A Regional Package of Supporting Measures.  Providing financial incentives to taxi 
drivers, community transport and bus operators to encourage the uptake of ULEVs.  
Although the total cost of ownership of EVs is generally lower than conventionally 
fuelled vehicles, the initial capital cost is usually higher and therefore a financial 
incentive can help to overcome this. 

 

5.0 REGIONAL COORDINATION AND PROJECT MANAGEMENT   
 
5.1 MTCBC agreed to submit the bid for ULEV funding on behalf of the Cardiff Capital 

Regional Transport Authority (CCRTA).  If the funding bid is successful, then MTCBC 

will work with the CCRTA and the Office of the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal in 
developing the framework for scheme delivery.  MTCBC, as with the Metro Plus 
Programme, will be responsible for the overall project & finance management on 
behalf of the partnership, delivering claims and progress reports to Welsh 
Government.  This will be led by the Strategic Infrastructure Programme Manager.  

 
5.2 The Regional Transport Authority’s monthly management group will monitor and 

manage the overall progress of the project.  
 
5.3 MTCBC in its capacity as lead partner will coordinate agreed partnership agreements 

with all partners.  All partners will prepare agreed financial claims against their profile 
and submit progress report templates.  MTCBC will collate all financial claims and 
reports to Welsh Government.  

 
5.4 If the Resilient Roads Fund application is successful, the schemes will be delivered by 

MTCBC’s Engineering Department.  
  

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
6.1 MTCBC has submitted an application for £535,000 for the Resilient Roads Fund 

2020/21 and an application, on behalf of the Cardiff Capital Region, for £6,502,299 for 
the Ultra Low Emission Vehicle Transformation Fund 2020/21.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 78



 

7.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

7.1 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
10 of 10 0 of 10 0 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

1 of 1 0 of 1 0 of 1 

Summary: 
People will have better access to electric vehicle charging infrastructure at  transport 
hubs and interchanges to improve their working and everyday life, bringing people and 
places together in a way that promote behavioural change. The resilience of transport 
networks will be enhanced.   
 
No negative impacts have been identified. 
 

 
 
ALYN OWEN 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS 
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION & PUBLIC 
PROTECTION 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

CCR ULEV Taxi 
Business Case 

February 2020 Office of the Cardiff Capital Region 
City Deal 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 

of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  
 

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

REGIONAL TRANSPORT AUTHORITY METRO 
PLUS PROGRAMME  
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The South Wales Metro is a major infrastructure project and signals an ambitious 

‘modal shift’ in connecting people and places and enhancing the functional economic 
geography of the region.  It represents forward thinking on the future of mobility and 
its mission it to provide contemporary public transport that will promote behavioural 
change.  

 
1.2 The Cardiff Capital Region in collaboration with Welsh Government and Transport for 

Wales, has identified a proposed integrated programme of local future transport 
schemes that fit within a wider Metro Plus programme.  These proposals have been 
drawn from the priorities surfaced by individual Councils and mirror the ‘Metro spine’ 
– creating both short and longer-term opportunities for place-shaping.  They bring 
together a diverse range of projects, spanning regeneration, town centres, housing 
and economic growth, with transport as the central component or ‘enabler’ in allowing 
growth, expansion and opportunity to be unlocked.  

 
1.3 The proposed package of schemes totals some £50m.  A £15m contribution each from 

Welsh Government’s Local Transport Fund and the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal’s 
Infrastructure Fund will be supplemented, where available, by additional funding 
provided from sources such as s106 and council’s own capital monies.  The Metro 
Plus Phase 1 co-investment programme was agreed by Regional Cabinet on 18th 
February 2019 as part of the wider metro infrastructure.  2020/21 is year 2 of the Metro 
Plus Phase 1 delivery programme. 

            

Date Written March 2020 

Report Author Alun Evans / Chris Long  

Service Area Community Regeneration 

Committee Division Cabinet 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 25th March 2020 

Page 81

Agenda Item 6



1.4 In relation to the Local Transport Fund, MTCBC successfully bid on behalf of the region 
for £3.5M in 2019/20 (Phase 1, Year 1).  This enabled the progression of each scheme 
within the programme, which MTCBC has successfully managed.  The MTCBC 
element of the programme supported land acquisition and rail feasibility work at 
(Hoovers) Pentrebach.  

 
1.5 In addition to bidding for Metro Plus Phase 1 (Year 2) funding, MTCBC has also bid 

for monies for development work on both a Metro Plus Phase 2 programme and the 
Metro Enhancement Framework (which sets out priority transport corridors for review, 
and as agreed at the Regional Cabinet on 28th November 2019).  The MTCBC scheme 
in the proposed Phase 2 programme is the Merthyr Tydfil Transport Interchange (that 
is, linking the new bus station with a revamped, modern rail station). 

 
1.6 MTCBC has therefore submitted a 2020/21 Local Transport Fund bid to Welsh 

Government for £7,063,553 (£3,983,553 is towards the delivery of the Metro Plus 
Phase 1 (Year 2) and £3,080,000 to enable the development of Metro Plus Phase 2 
and the Metro Enhancement framework).  If successful, the Programme will be 
managed on behalf of the region by MTCBC Community Regeneration. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION that 
 
2.1 The progress that has been made regionally be noted and the submission for MTCBC 

to manage this on behalf of the region be approved. 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The South Wales Metro is a major infrastructure project and signals an ambitious 

‘modal shift’ in connecting people and places and enhancing the functional economic 
geography of the region.  It represents forward thinking on the future of mobility and 
its mission is to provide contemporary public transport that will promote behavioural 
change.  With commitments to renewable energy provision and sustaining the pace of 
new technological developments, the proposed Metro Plus programme has the 
potential to make a significant contribution to inclusive growth and provide a core 
means of enabling sustainable business growth and facilitating shared prosperity.  At 
a very practical level, the emphasis is on regular, reliable, and resilient infrastructure. 
In terms of its wider ‘enabling’ impact, it is set to encourage inclusion and connections 
– enabling people to both move around and come together. 

 
3.2 The Regional Transport Authority and Cardiff Capital Region City Deal, in collaboration 

with Welsh Government and Transport for Wales, has identified an integrated 
programme of local future transport schemes that fit within a wider Metro Plus 
programme.  These proposals have been drawn from the priorities provided by 
individual Councils and mirror the ‘Metro spine’ – creating both short and longer-term 
opportunities for place-shaping.  They bring together a diverse range of projects, 
spanning regeneration, town centres, housing and economic growth, with transport as 
the central component or ‘enabler’ in allowing growth, expansion and opportunity to 
be unlocked.  

 

Page 82



3.3 The Metro Plus Phase 1 co-investment programme was agreed by Regional Cabinet 
on 18th February 2019.  The MTCBC specific project is Pentrebach Station and Park 
and Ride – the focus at Pentrebach is the regeneration of a significant brownfield site 
(Hoovers) that has been largely vacant for 10 years.  The South Wales Metro, with 
high frequency light rail connections, will be the catalyst for the development of a 
sustainable, mixed use, neighbourhood with new businesses, homes, shops and 
parkland, the Taff & Trevithick trails and on the doorstep of Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre. 

 
3.4 Redevelopment of the area has the potential to maximise opportunities provided from 

planned transport infrastructure investment (increases in service capacity, Pentrebach 
station and park and ride improvements and a potential future new metro station) and 
to support 440 homes and employment land.  Electric charging points will be included 
within any future proposal implemented.  Funding in 2019/20 has supported land 
acquisition and rail feasibility work. 

 

4.0 SCHEME OUTPUTS  
 
4.1 The proposed Metro Plus Phase 1 package of schemes totals £50m.  A £15m 

contribution is being sought from the Welsh Government’s Local Transport Fund and 
the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal’s Infrastructure Fund, and it is anticipated that the 
remaining £20m will be sourced through local developer contributions; third party and 
private sector funding, other potential government programmes and capital 
contributions from Councils.  It will be supplemented by additional funding provided 
from sources such as s106 and council’s own capital monies.  One demonstration of 
wider leverage potential is the work the Valleys Taskforce has commissioned on 
integrated transport hubs.  These programmes must be joined-up in order to maximise 
leverage, alignment and co-ordination opportunities.  In addition, there are several 
opportunities through bodies such as Welsh Government ‘Transactional Capital’ and 
Energy Savings Trust around investment opportunities in low carbon pathways. 

 
4.2 This exciting package of Metro Plus Phase 1 schemes will be future proofed by the 

inclusion of the latest technological advances in vehicle charging for bus, taxis, car 
clubs and cycles, including energy generation where possible.  In addition, the wider 
City Deal priorities around economic growth, the skills agenda, digital inclusion and 
open data will form a key aspiration. 

 
4.3 The programme comprises the following projects: 

 
 Abertillery Interchange - the current Ebbw Valley Railway service is one train per 

hour, with a further hourly service committed as part of the new rail partnership.  A 
long standing aspiration of local residents of Ebbw Fach and Abertillery is the 
provision of a link to the EVR, so the initial work is focussed on identifying the 
current accessibility problems and issues, identifying smart, strategic objectives 
and developing a short list of options to provide this link. Electric charging points 
will be included within any future proposal implemented. 

 
 

 Caerphilly Interchange - at an early stage of development, the provision of a new 
transport interchange for Caerphilly, on the site of the current bus and rail stations.  
High quality passenger facilities to be provided including electronic information, EV 

Page 83



charging for buses and a larger park and ride facility.  The initial stage development 
will also consider the wider business and green technology hub opportunities. 

 

 Porth Interchange - the vision is to transform Porth into a prosperous and 
attractive town, which offers a wide range of opportunities for visitors, residents 
and businesses, with improved connectivity to and from the surrounding areas 
being anchored by a Transport Hub and a regenerated “Station Quarter”.  A site 
has been identified for this Transport Hub, which will house a seven bay bus 
interchange, taxi rank and cycle racks, with direct access to the rail station 
platforms and the Park and Ride, which will be further extended.  Electric charging 
points will be included within the future proposal.  

 

 Barry Docks Interchange - the development of bus and rail interchange at Barry 
is a key aspiration, especially given its location in relation to Cardiff Wales Airport.  
It is anticipated that the interchange would include 4-5 bus bays, have provision for 
taxis and potentially extend the existing Park and Ride site (currently at capacity) 
as the new rail partnership includes line frequency enhancement. Electric charging 
points will be included within any future proposal implemented. 

 

 Pyle Interchange - implementation of a Park and Ride facility as part of the 
development of an integrated transport hub that serves the local community of Pyle 
and the nearby settlements of Porthcawl, Kenfig Hill, Cefn Cribwr and Cornelly.  
The existing 23-space car park at Pyle is currently at capacity and a minimum of 
75 additional spaces are being considered as part of the future development.  The 
scheme will include the design and delivery of an additional P&R facility that can 
cater for current demand and future growth based on an updated business case.  
The proposal will also include appropriate Active Travel connections and will also 
give full consideration to the inclusion of EV charging points, and the provision of 
additional cycle parking facilities. 

 

 Pentrebach Station and Park and Ride - the focus at Pentrebach is the 
regeneration of a significant brownfield site (Hoovers) that has been largely vacant 
for 10 years.  The South Wales Metro, with high frequency light rail connections, 
will be the catalyst for the development of a sustainable, mixed use, neighbourhood 
with new businesses, homes, shops and parkland, the Taff & Trevithick trails and 
on the doorstep of Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre. Redevelopment of the area has the 
potential to maximise opportunities provided from planned transport infrastructure 
investment (increases in service capacity, Pentrebach station and park and ride 
improvements and a potential future new metro station) and to support 440 homes 
and employment land.  Electric charging points will be included within any future 
proposal implemented. 

 
 
 
 

 Severn Tunnel Junction Park & Ride - an additional 150-200 space park & ride 
facility on the south side of Severn Tunnel Junction station.  There is currently a 
substantial shortfall of spaces, which creates problems within the existing car park 
and nearby streets.  The scheme will enable reconfiguration of the existing (north-
side) station car park including more than 40 additional bike & ride spaces, safer 

Page 84



walking & cycling access, a revamped bus-rail interchange, EV charging spaces 
and potentially an improved station building (with ticket office, café, shop, WC). 

 

 Pontypool and New Inn Station Park and Ride - the proposed enhancements at 
Pontypool and New Inn Rail Station include a new Park and Ride (200 spaces) 
which will be accessed from the A4042 trunk road, DDA compliant platform access 
and improved station facilities including cycling facilities.  The station is a potential 
interchange point with passengers from the ‘Eastern Valley’ including Blaenavon, 
Abersychan, Pontypool, New Inn, and also for Usk and the West of 
Monmouthshire.  This station will support the nearby proposed Mamhilad 
development with a current allocation of 1,800 dwellings.  EV charging spaces 
provided within the new P&R. 

 

 Newport to Cardiff Bus Priority - the Newport to Cardiff Bus Corridor links a 
number of significant trip attractors - Cardiff City Centre, the St Mellons Business 
Park, Cleppa Park/IQE Semi-conductor plant, the Office of National Statistics and 
Patent Office, the Royal Gwent Hospital, Newport City Centre and the Wales 
International Conference Centre.  Services on this corridor suffer from extended 
journey times (current schedules indicating a time of circa 1 hour to undertake the 
15-mile journey), with operators confirming services are subject to considerable 
journey time variability.  Initial work is ongoing on an improvement package that 
includes high-quality roadside infrastructure to promote and facilitate increased 
bus use.  The scheme will also provide the foundation for a Park and Ride facility 
to be developed on the eastern side of Newport, where EV charging could figure 
prominently. 

 

 East Cardiff Bus Priority - this project incorporates a series of sustainable and 
active travel packages that will enable improved bus connections in Cardiff City 
Centre, improved active travel infrastructure and pedestrian safety improvements. 
The infrastructure improvements will benefit local and regional transport through 
providing improved sustainable connections to key transport hubs, employment 
zones and visitor destinations.  Improvements include new bus priority measures 
to connect local and regional buses through the east and south of the city, 
installation of Central Cycle Superhighway that will connect and link all 4 cycle 
superhighways to the city centre, 20mph Zone and traffic calming measures, air 
quality improvements, cycle parking and Next Bike, and EV charging points. 

 
4.4 The Metro Plus Phase 2 (Year 1) bid is for development funding.  A request for a 

WG/City Deal co-investment Programme to Regional Cabinet is required for future 
years once they have been developed to WelTAG Stage 2.  The schemes include: 

 

 Abergavenny station interchange & improvements  

 Cardiff Bus Priority  

 Cwmbran Interchange  

 Cogan Interchange  

 Ystrad Mynach P&R extension  

 Hirwaun Rail extension and P&R  

 Cardiff Bus priority between Newport city centre and the International Conference 
Centre Wales  

Page 85



 Brackla Railway Station  

 Pencoed Crossing  

 Merthyr Rail – Bus Connectivity 

 Brynmawr Transport Interchange. 
 
4.5 The Metro Enhancement Programme bid is also for development funding for the first 

four priority corridors, namely:  
 

 North West Cardiff - This scheme was funded through LTF 2019/20 and is ready 
to progress to the next stage. 

 Cardiff - Vale of Glamorgan - WelTAG 1 to be carried out to make case for change 
and identify problems and opportunities and identify potential solutions.  

 Cardiff - Maesteg - Bridgend - Porthcawl - WelTAG 1 to be carried out to make 
case for change and identify problems and opportunities and identify potential 
solutions. 

 Newport - Chepstow - TFW are currently undertaking WelTAG 1 works to identify 
problems and opportunities and to make the case for change.  Once complete, it 
is anticipated that funding will be required to progress through WelTAG. 

 

5.0 REGIONAL COORDINATION AND PROJECT MANAGEMENT   
 
5.1 MTCBC will again be the lead partner responsible for the overall project & finance 

management on behalf of the partnership, delivering claims and progress reports to 
Welsh Government.  This will be led by the Strategic Infrastructure Programme 
Manager.  

 
5.2 The Regional Transport Authority’s monthly management group will monitor and 

manage the overall progress of the project.  
 
5.3 MTCBC in its capacity as lead partner will coordinate agreed partnership agreements 

with all partners.  All partners will prepare agreed financial claims against their profile 
& submit progress report templates.  MTCBC will collate all financial claims and reports 
to Welsh Government.  

  

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
6.1 MTCBC has submitted an application for £7,063,553 on behalf of the region that will 

enable continued progress of the programme in the financial year 2020/21.  
 
6.2 If the application is successful, it is anticipated that WG will fund up to £7,063,553 in 

2020/21, but should this be unaffordable within the LTF budget, it may be necessary 
for the Cardiff Capital Region to fund up to 50% match fund to enable the progression 
of the programme in a timely manner. 

 

7.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
7.1 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

Page 86



1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
10 of 10 0 of 10 0 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

1 of 1 0 of 1 0 of 1 

Summary: 
People will have better access to transport hubs and interchanges to improve their 
working and everyday life, bringing people and places together in a way that promote 
behavioural change. 
 
No negative impacts have been identified. 
 

 
 
ALYN OWEN 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS 
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION & PUBLIC 
PROTECTION 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 

of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

NEW MERTHYR TYDFIL BUS STATION  
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The new Merthyr Tydfil Bus Station will provide an interchange facility built to the 

highest quality and specification, and fit for purpose for the 21st century.  It will 
enable significantly improved access to the local and regional bus networks, and 
create seamless interchange opportunities with the adjacent Metro rail station.  The 
new facility will assist in sustaining the current commercial bus, making it more 
resilient and offering opportunities for further network expansion.  It is hoped that bus 
patronage figures will increase as a direct result of the scheme.  

 
1.2 The high quality specification will make the new facility safer and more secure than 

the current bus station, and it is therefore hoped that we will see a significant 
reduction of the anti-social behaviour that is experienced at the current site.  It is also 
anticipated that the new facility will be a catalyst for further town centre development 
at the rail station, lower end of High Street and the Glebeland (current bus station) 
site. 

 
1.3 Morgan Sindall were appointed as the main scheme contractor and commenced on 

site in July 2019.  Progress to date has been very challenging due to complex 
enabling work.  Morgan Sindall and Capita (providing professional support to the 
Council on the scheme) have dealt with all the issues raised, and the current 
anticipated completion is January 2021.  

 
1.4 MTCBC has submitted an application for £6,402,400 that will enable completion of 

the new Merthyr Tydfil bus station in the financial year 2020/21.  If successful, the 
Programme will continue to be managed by Community Regeneration. 

 

Date Written March 2020 

Report Author Alun Evans / Chris Long  

Service Area Community Regeneration 

Committee Division Cabinet 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 25th March 2020 

Page 83

Agenda Item 8

Page 89

Agenda Item 7



 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION that 
 
2.1 The progress that has been made on the new Merthyr Tydfil bus station scheme be 

noted and the submission to the Local Transport Fund 2020/21 for the completion of 
the scheme be approved. 

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The improvement of Merthyr Tydfil bus station has been a long standing aspiration of 

the Council as the existing facility is an inefficient design operationally and the poor 
building layout means that it attracts antisocial behaviour, and provides a poor 
gateway to Merthyr Tydfil town centre.  The new bus station will address the 
inefficiencies and design weaknesses associated with the existing facility and will 
contribute to the regeneration of Merthyr Tydfil town centre. 

 
3.2 The new bus station will also work to increase bus patronage within the region and 

reduce reliance on the private car.  The relocation of the bus station to Swan Street 
will improve public transport integration by moving the bus station closer to the 
railway station, while maintaining pedestrian links with the town centre retail core.  It 
is also allowing the existing bus station to function until the new facility is complete, 
minimising disruption to the public transport network.  

 
3.3 The scheme has been developed with the Regional Transport Authority and Cardiff 

Capital Region City Deal, in collaboration with Welsh Government and Transport for 
Wales, as part of an integrated programme of local future transport schemes that fit 
within a wider south east Wales Metro programme.  This programme has been 
drawn from the priorities provided by individual Councils and mirror the ‘Metro spine’ 
– creating both short and longer-term opportunities for place-shaping.  They bring 
together a diverse range of projects, spanning regeneration, town centres, housing 
and economic growth, with transport as the central component or ‘enabler’ in 
allowing growth, expansion and opportunity to be unlocked.  

 
3.4 The new bus station is in-line with local, regional and national policy and contributes 

to the achievement of the Town Centre Strategic Review and Masterplan for Merthyr 
Tydfil town centre.  The proposal is in-line with Metro objectives and complements 
previous and proposed Metro funded investment at the railway station.  The South 
Wales Metro is a major infrastructure project and signals an ambitious ‘modal shift’ in 
connecting people and places and enhancing the functional economic geography of 
the region.  

 
3.5 The scheme will provide a new interchange facility built to the highest quality and 

specification, and fit for purpose for the 21st century.  It will enable significantly 
improved access to the local and regional bus networks, and create seamless 
interchange opportunities with the adjacent Metro rail station.  The new facility will 
assist in sustaining the current commercial bus, making it more resilient and offering 
opportunities for further network expansion.  It is hoped that bus patronage figures 
will increase as a direct result of the scheme. 

 

Page 84Page 90



3.6 The high quality specification will make the new facility safer and far more secure 
than the current bus station, and it is therefore hoped that we will see a significant 
reduction of the anti-social behaviour that is experienced at the current site.  It is also 
anticipated that the new facility will be a catalyst for further town centre development 
at the rail station, lower end of High Street and the Glebeland (current bus station) 
site. 

 

4.0 SCHEME OUTPUTS  
 
4.1 The scheme comprises a new bus station concourse comprising 14 stands at a 

45 degree angle to the concourse, and 10 layover stands (layover stands positioned 
to allow straight reversing); drive-in and reverse-out stands designed to 
accommodate 12.9m buses; commercial space comprising of coffee shop, South 
Wales Police offices, information points, bus operators mess facilities and public 
toilets.  Cycle parking facilities will be provided, as well as electronic bus timetable 
signage information and CCTV security covering the public areas of the site and 
building.  

 
4.2 As part of the scheme development in 2019/20, the bus stop infrastructure along the 

key bus corridors emanating from the new facility have been audited.  A series of 
proposals for improvements works on the key corridors is currently being developed 
and the main funding bid for the new bus station in 2020/21 will include for 
implementation of some of these works. 

 
4.3 The Council was awarded £3.65M from the Welsh Government’s Local Transport 

Fund for scheme delivery in 2019/20.  Morgan Sindall were appointed as the main 
contractor for the delivery of the scheme, and work commenced on site on 15th July 
2019.  Capita provide the professional technical support and the Council’s new 
Strategic Infrastructure Programme Manager is acting as client liaison.  

 
4.4 The early stages of scheme delivery have proved very challenging for the contractor, 

with the enabling works involving all the main statutory undertakers.  The complexity 
of work in the middle of a busy town centre has been exacerbated by the uncovering 
of a number of uncharted services.  This has been further impacted by the adjacent 
work on the St Tydfil shopping centre.  The current estimated scheme completion is 
January 2021.  

 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
5.1 MTCBC has submitted an application for £6,402,400 that will enable completion of 

the new Merthyr Tydfil bus station in the financial year 2020/21.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 85Page 91



6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
6.1 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
 2 of 4 0 of 4 2 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
2 of 10 0 of 10 8 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

1 of 1 0 of 1 0 of 1 

Summary: 
The main positive impacts are that the Strategic Transport Interchange will meet the 
Merthyr Tydfil Well-being Objectives and Sustainable Development Principles through 
re-development of a derelict site and the provision of a key strategic transport 
interchange in Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre.  The Programme will have a positive effect 
on the economy, socially and on the environment.    
 
No negative impacts have been identified. 
 

 
 
ALYN OWEN 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS 
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION & PUBLIC 
PROTECTION 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 

of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 86Page 92



 
Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

REGIONAL TRANSPORT AUTHORITY METRO 
PLUS PROGRAMME  
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The South Wales Metro is a major infrastructure project and signals an ambitious 

‘modal shift’ in connecting people and places and enhancing the functional economic 
geography of the region.  It represents forward thinking on the future of mobility and 
its mission it to provide contemporary public transport that will promote behavioural 
change.  

 
1.2 The Cardiff Capital Region in collaboration with Welsh Government and Transport for 

Wales, has identified a proposed integrated programme of local future transport 
schemes that fit within a wider Metro Plus programme.  These proposals have been 
drawn from the priorities surfaced by individual Councils and mirror the ‘Metro spine’ 
– creating both short and longer-term opportunities for place-shaping.  They bring 
together a diverse range of projects, spanning regeneration, town centres, housing 
and economic growth, with transport as the central component or ‘enabler’ in 
allowing growth, expansion and opportunity to be unlocked.  

 
1.3 The proposed package of schemes totals some £50m.  A £15m contribution each 

from Welsh Government’s Local Transport Fund and the Cardiff Capital Region City 
Deal’s Infrastructure Fund will be supplemented, where available, by additional 
funding provided from sources such as s106 and council’s own capital monies.  The 
Metro Plus Phase 1 co-investment programme was agreed by Regional Cabinet on 
18th February 2019 as part of the wider metro infrastructure.  2020/21 is year 2 of the 
Metro Plus Phase 1 delivery programme. 

            

Date Written March 2020 

Report Author Alun Evans / Chris Long  

Service Area Community Regeneration 

Committee Division Cabinet 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 25th March 2020 

Page 87

Agenda Item 9

Page 93

Agenda Item 8



1.4 In relation to the Local Transport Fund, MTCBC successfully bid on behalf of the 
region for £3.5M in 2019/20 (Phase 1, Year 1).  This enabled the progression of each 
scheme within the programme, which MTCBC has successfully managed.  The 
MTCBC element of the programme supported land acquisition and rail feasibility 
work at (Hoovers) Pentrebach.  

 
1.5 In addition to bidding for Metro Plus Phase 1 (Year 2) funding, MTCBC has also bid 

for monies for development work on both a Metro Plus Phase 2 programme and the 
Metro Enhancement Framework (which sets out priority transport corridors for 
review, and as agreed at the Regional Cabinet on 28th November 2019).  The 
MTCBC scheme in the proposed Phase 2 programme is the Merthyr Tydfil Transport 
Interchange (that is, linking the new bus station with a revamped, modern rail 
station). 

 
1.6 MTCBC has therefore submitted a 2020/21 Local Transport Fund bid to Welsh 

Government for £7,063,553 (£3,983,553 is towards the delivery of the Metro Plus 
Phase 1 (Year 2) and £3,080,000 to enable the development of Metro Plus Phase 2 
and the Metro Enhancement framework).  If successful, the Programme will be 
managed on behalf of the region by MTCBC Community Regeneration. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION that 
 
2.1 The progress that has been made regionally be noted and the submission for 

MTCBC to manage this on behalf of the region be approved. 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The South Wales Metro is a major infrastructure project and signals an ambitious 

‘modal shift’ in connecting people and places and enhancing the functional economic 
geography of the region.  It represents forward thinking on the future of mobility and 
its mission is to provide contemporary public transport that will promote behavioural 
change.  With commitments to renewable energy provision and sustaining the pace 
of new technological developments, the proposed Metro Plus programme has the 
potential to make a significant contribution to inclusive growth and provide a core 
means of enabling sustainable business growth and facilitating shared prosperity.  At 
a very practical level, the emphasis is on regular, reliable, and resilient infrastructure. 
In terms of its wider ‘enabling’ impact, it is set to encourage inclusion and 
connections – enabling people to both move around and come together. 

 
3.2 The Regional Transport Authority and Cardiff Capital Region City Deal, in 

collaboration with Welsh Government and Transport for Wales, has identified an 
integrated programme of local future transport schemes that fit within a wider Metro 
Plus programme.  These proposals have been drawn from the priorities provided by 
individual Councils and mirror the ‘Metro spine’ – creating both short and longer-term 
opportunities for place-shaping.  They bring together a diverse range of projects, 
spanning regeneration, town centres, housing and economic growth, with transport 
as the central component or ‘enabler’ in allowing growth, expansion and opportunity 
to be unlocked.  

 

Page 88Page 94



3.3 The Metro Plus Phase 1 co-investment programme was agreed by Regional Cabinet 
on 18th February 2019.  The MTCBC specific project is Pentrebach Station and Park 
and Ride – the focus at Pentrebach is the regeneration of a significant brownfield site 
(Hoovers) that has been largely vacant for 10 years.  The South Wales Metro, with 
high frequency light rail connections, will be the catalyst for the development of a 
sustainable, mixed use, neighbourhood with new businesses, homes, shops and 
parkland, the Taff & Trevithick trails and on the doorstep of Merthyr Tydfil Town 
Centre. 

 
3.4 Redevelopment of the area has the potential to maximise opportunities provided 

from planned transport infrastructure investment (increases in service capacity, 
Pentrebach station and park and ride improvements and a potential future new metro 
station) and to support 440 homes and employment land.  Electric charging points 
will be included within any future proposal implemented.  Funding in 2019/20 has 
supported land acquisition and rail feasibility work. 

 

4.0 SCHEME OUTPUTS  
 
4.1 The proposed Metro Plus Phase 1 package of schemes totals £50m.  A £15m 

contribution is being sought from the Welsh Government’s Local Transport Fund and 
the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal’s Infrastructure Fund, and it is anticipated that 
the remaining £20m will be sourced through local developer contributions; third party 
and private sector funding, other potential government programmes and capital 
contributions from Councils.  It will be supplemented by additional funding provided 
from sources such as s106 and council’s own capital monies.  One demonstration of 
wider leverage potential is the work the Valleys Taskforce has commissioned on 
integrated transport hubs.  These programmes must be joined-up in order to 
maximise leverage, alignment and co-ordination opportunities.  In addition, there are 
several opportunities through bodies such as Welsh Government ‘Transactional 
Capital’ and Energy Savings Trust around investment opportunities in low carbon 
pathways. 

 
4.2 This exciting package of Metro Plus Phase 1 schemes will be future proofed by the 

inclusion of the latest technological advances in vehicle charging for bus, taxis, car 
clubs and cycles, including energy generation where possible.  In addition, the wider 
City Deal priorities around economic growth, the skills agenda, digital inclusion and 
open data will form a key aspiration. 

 
4.3 The programme comprises the following projects: 

 
 Abertillery Interchange - the current Ebbw Valley Railway service is one train 

per hour, with a further hourly service committed as part of the new rail 
partnership.  A long standing aspiration of local residents of Ebbw Fach and 
Abertillery is the provision of a link to the EVR, so the initial work is focussed on 
identifying the current accessibility problems and issues, identifying smart, 
strategic objectives and developing a short list of options to provide this link. 
Electric charging points will be included within any future proposal implemented. 

 
 

Page 89Page 95



 Caerphilly Interchange - at an early stage of development, the provision of a 
new transport interchange for Caerphilly, on the site of the current bus and rail 
stations.  High quality passenger facilities to be provided including electronic 
information, EV charging for buses and a larger park and ride facility.  The initial 
stage development will also consider the wider business and green technology 
hub opportunities. 

 

 Porth Interchange - the vision is to transform Porth into a prosperous and 
attractive town, which offers a wide range of opportunities for visitors, residents 
and businesses, with improved connectivity to and from the surrounding areas 
being anchored by a Transport Hub and a regenerated “Station Quarter”.  A site 
has been identified for this Transport Hub, which will house a seven bay bus 
interchange, taxi rank and cycle racks, with direct access to the rail station 
platforms and the Park and Ride, which will be further extended.  Electric 
charging points will be included within the future proposal.  

 

 Barry Docks Interchange - the development of bus and rail interchange at Barry 
is a key aspiration, especially given its location in relation to Cardiff Wales 
Airport.  It is anticipated that the interchange would include 4-5 bus bays, have 
provision for taxis and potentially extend the existing Park and Ride site (currently 
at capacity) as the new rail partnership includes line frequency enhancement. 
Electric charging points will be included within any future proposal implemented. 

 

 Pyle Interchange - implementation of a Park and Ride facility as part of the 
development of an integrated transport hub that serves the local community of 
Pyle and the nearby settlements of Porthcawl, Kenfig Hill, Cefn Cribwr and 
Cornelly.  The existing 23-space car park at Pyle is currently at capacity and a 
minimum of 75 additional spaces are being considered as part of the future 
development.  The scheme will include the design and delivery of an additional 
P&R facility that can cater for current demand and future growth based on an 
updated business case.  The proposal will also include appropriate Active Travel 
connections and will also give full consideration to the inclusion of EV charging 
points, and the provision of additional cycle parking facilities. 

 

 Pentrebach Station and Park and Ride - the focus at Pentrebach is the 
regeneration of a significant brownfield site (Hoovers) that has been largely 
vacant for 10 years.  The South Wales Metro, with high frequency light rail 
connections, will be the catalyst for the development of a sustainable, mixed use, 
neighbourhood with new businesses, homes, shops and parkland, the Taff & 
Trevithick trails and on the doorstep of Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre. 
Redevelopment of the area has the potential to maximise opportunities provided 
from planned transport infrastructure investment (increases in service capacity, 
Pentrebach station and park and ride improvements and a potential future new 
metro station) and to support 440 homes and employment land.  Electric charging 
points will be included within any future proposal implemented. 

 
 
 
 

Page 90Page 96



 Severn Tunnel Junction Park & Ride - an additional 150-200 space park & ride 
facility on the south side of Severn Tunnel Junction station.  There is currently a 
substantial shortfall of spaces, which creates problems within the existing car 
park and nearby streets.  The scheme will enable reconfiguration of the existing 
(north-side) station car park including more than 40 additional bike & ride spaces, 
safer walking & cycling access, a revamped bus-rail interchange, EV charging 
spaces and potentially an improved station building (with ticket office, café, shop, 
WC). 

 

 Pontypool and New Inn Station Park and Ride - the proposed enhancements 
at Pontypool and New Inn Rail Station include a new Park and Ride (200 spaces) 
which will be accessed from the A4042 trunk road, DDA compliant platform 
access and improved station facilities including cycling facilities.  The station is a 
potential interchange point with passengers from the ‘Eastern Valley’ including 
Blaenavon, Abersychan, Pontypool, New Inn, and also for Usk and the West of 
Monmouthshire.  This station will support the nearby proposed Mamhilad 
development with a current allocation of 1,800 dwellings.  EV charging spaces 
provided within the new P&R. 

 

 Newport to Cardiff Bus Priority - the Newport to Cardiff Bus Corridor links a 
number of significant trip attractors - Cardiff City Centre, the St Mellons Business 
Park, Cleppa Park/IQE Semi-conductor plant, the Office of National Statistics and 
Patent Office, the Royal Gwent Hospital, Newport City Centre and the Wales 
International Conference Centre.  Services on this corridor suffer from extended 
journey times (current schedules indicating a time of circa 1 hour to undertake the 
15-mile journey), with operators confirming services are subject to considerable 
journey time variability.  Initial work is ongoing on an improvement package that 
includes high-quality roadside infrastructure to promote and facilitate increased 
bus use.  The scheme will also provide the foundation for a Park and Ride facility 
to be developed on the eastern side of Newport, where EV charging could figure 
prominently. 

 

 East Cardiff Bus Priority - this project incorporates a series of sustainable and 
active travel packages that will enable improved bus connections in Cardiff City 
Centre, improved active travel infrastructure and pedestrian safety improvements. 
The infrastructure improvements will benefit local and regional transport through 
providing improved sustainable connections to key transport hubs, employment 
zones and visitor destinations.  Improvements include new bus priority measures 
to connect local and regional buses through the east and south of the city, 
installation of Central Cycle Superhighway that will connect and link all 4 cycle 
superhighways to the city centre, 20mph Zone and traffic calming measures, air 
quality improvements, cycle parking and Next Bike, and EV charging points. 

 
4.4 The Metro Plus Phase 2 (Year 1) bid is for development funding.  A request for a 

WG/City Deal co-investment Programme to Regional Cabinet is required for future 
years once they have been developed to WelTAG Stage 2.  The schemes include: 

 

 Abergavenny station interchange & improvements  

 Cardiff Bus Priority  

 Cwmbran Interchange  

Page 91Page 97



 Cogan Interchange  

 Ystrad Mynach P&R extension  

 Hirwaun Rail extension and P&R  

 Cardiff Bus priority between Newport city centre and the International Conference 
Centre Wales  

 Brackla Railway Station  

 Pencoed Crossing  

 Merthyr Rail – Bus Connectivity 

 Brynmawr Transport Interchange. 
 
4.5 The Metro Enhancement Programme bid is also for development funding for the first 

four priority corridors, namely:  
 

 North West Cardiff - This scheme was funded through LTF 2019/20 and is ready 
to progress to the next stage. 

 Cardiff - Vale of Glamorgan - WelTAG 1 to be carried out to make case for 
change and identify problems and opportunities and identify potential solutions.  

 Cardiff - Maesteg - Bridgend - Porthcawl - WelTAG 1 to be carried out to make 
case for change and identify problems and opportunities and identify potential 
solutions. 

 Newport - Chepstow - TFW are currently undertaking WelTAG 1 works to identify 
problems and opportunities and to make the case for change.  Once complete, it 
is anticipated that funding will be required to progress through WelTAG. 

 

5.0 REGIONAL COORDINATION AND PROJECT MANAGEMENT   
 
5.1 MTCBC will again be the lead partner responsible for the overall project & finance 

management on behalf of the partnership, delivering claims and progress reports to 
Welsh Government.  This will be led by the Strategic Infrastructure Programme 
Manager.  

 
5.2 The Regional Transport Authority’s monthly management group will monitor and 

manage the overall progress of the project.  
 
5.3 MTCBC in its capacity as lead partner will coordinate agreed partnership 

agreements with all partners.  All partners will prepare agreed financial claims 
against their profile & submit progress report templates.  MTCBC will collate all 
financial claims and reports to Welsh Government.  

  

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
6.1 MTCBC has submitted an application for £7,063,553 on behalf of the region that will 

enable continued progress of the programme in the financial year 2020/21.  
 
6.2 If the application is successful, it is anticipated that WG will fund up to £7,063,553 in 

2020/21, but should this be unaffordable within the LTF budget, it may be necessary 
for the Cardiff Capital Region to fund up to 50% match fund to enable the 
progression of the programme in a timely manner. 

 

Page 92Page 98



7.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
7.1 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
10 of 10 0 of 10 0 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

1 of 1 0 of 1 0 of 1 

Summary: 
People will have better access to transport hubs and interchanges to improve their 
working and everyday life, bringing people and places together in a way that promote 
behavioural change. 
 
No negative impacts have been identified. 
 

 
 
ALYN OWEN 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS 
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION & PUBLIC 
PROTECTION 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 

of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 93Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 100



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 
 
 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Welsh Government Free Swimming Initiative 
in the County Borough 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 In the financial year 2019/20 the Council has received £52,375 of funding from Sport 

Wales to deliver the Welsh Government Free Swimming Initiative in the County 
Borough. 

 
1.2 Due to the closure of the pools at Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Centre the planned activities 

to deliver the Councils Free swimming plan have not been able to be delivered in full. 
 
1.3  The funder Sport Wales have agreed to the carryover of part of the funding to deliver 

into the following financial year due to the circumstances that have been presented. 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 The carry forward of the sum of £10,000 of revenue funding from the Free Swimming 

grant to the financial year 2020/21 be approved. 
 
2.2 The carry forward of the sum of £21,500 of capital funding from the Free Swimming 

grant to the financial year 2020/21 be approved. 
 
 
             
 
 
 

Date Written 1st March 2020** 

Report Author John Sellwood/Chris Long  

Service Area Regeneration 

Committee Division Portfolio 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 25th March 2020 

Page 101

Agenda Item 9



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 In the financial year 2019/20 the Council has received £52,375 of funding from Sport 

Wales to deliver the Welsh Government Free Swimming Initiative in the County 
Borough. 

 
3.2 With this funding, the Council commissions the Leisure Trust to deliver a range of 

aquatic opportunities to people 16 & under and 60 & over.  
 
3.3 In addition to the commissioned activities with the Leisure Trust a proportion of the 

fund is allocated to supporting schools to improve learn to swim levels in the County 
Borough. 

 
3.4 As members are aware on 2nd December 2019 the pools at Merthyr Tydfil Leisure 

Centre closed for repair work to the tiles and will not reopen in this financial year. 
 

4.0 THE IMPACT OF THE CLOSURE OF THE POOLS AT MERTHYR 
TYDFIL LEISURE CENTRE 

 
4.1 The closure of the pools have impacted on the ability to deliver the full requirement 

of the Councils Free Swimming planned activities in 2019/20, therefore resulting in 
an underspend of the grant funding. 

 
4.2 The Free Swimming funding was granted as part of an 18 month plan from 

1st October 2019 to 31st March 2021. 
 
4.3 The Leisure, Culture and Sports Development Manager has sort and gained the 

approval of the grant provider to use the underspend in the financial 2020/21 to 
deliver the activities that have not been able to be delivered in 2019/20. 

 
4.4 In terms of the capital funding this is a one off amount for the improvement of visitor 

experience to the pools.  This funding was not confirmed until mid-October, whilst 
some of the agreed work to the pools at Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Centre will be 
complied and paid for, the work at Aberfan community Centre will not be completed 
until April 2020.  

 
4.5     There is an estimated underspend in the financial year 2019/20 in the region of 

£10,000 in the revenue budget and about £21,500 in the capital budget. 
 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 There are no impacts on the Councils revenue or capital budgets, however if 

permission is not granted to carry the funding forward the funding may have to be 
returned to Sport Wales. 

 
 
 
 

Page 102



6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
6.1 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
0 of 4 0 of 4 4 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

0 of 5 0 of 5 5 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
0 of 10 0 of 10 10 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary: 
 
There are no impacts on any of the areas in this assessment as it is a request to carry 
over funding from one financial year to another. 
 

 
 
ALYN OWEN 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS 
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION & PUPLIC 
PROTECTION 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No  

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 

of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 
 

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 105

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 14, 16 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 109

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14, 16 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 111

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 14, 16 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Annual Equality Report for 2018-2019
	2020.03.25 - Cabinet 02 - Annual Equality Report for 2018-2019 (Appendix)

	2 Strategic Equality Plan 2020-2024
	2020.03.25 - Cabinet 04 - Strategic Equality Plan 2020-2024 (Appendix)

	3 Active Travel Fund and Safe Routes in Communities Fund
	4 Formal Approval of a New Foundation Economy Challenge Fund Community Meanwhile Project
	5 Local Transport Fund: Ultra Low Emission Vehicles & Resilient Roads Funds
	6 Regional Transport Authority Metro Plus Programme
	7 New Merthyr Tydfil Bus Station
	8 New Merthyr Tydfil Bus Station

	8 Regional Transport Authority Metro Plus Programme
	9 Regional Transport Authority Metro Plus Programme

	9 Welsh Government Free Swimming Initiative in the County Borough
	10 Land at Twynyrodyn
	2020.03.25 - Cabinet 12 EXEMPT - Land at Twynyrodyn (Appendix)

	11 Glynmill Caravan Site

